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TO BE A TRUSTED INDUSTRY LEADER IN THE 
PROVISION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

VISION

MISSION
WE SECURE AND GROW MEMBER FUNDS IN 
A SUSTAINABLE MANNER ENABLING THEM A 
DIGNIFIED POST CAREER LIFE
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INTEGRITY

To portray 
professional 
behaviour and ethics

BOTHO

To conduct ourselves 
in a respectable 
manner at all times 
by being courteous, 
considerate, 
responsive, and 
professional

ACCOUNTABILITY 

To take responsibility 
for our decisions

CUSTOMER 
FOCUS 

To serve the best 
interests of our 
customers

5 Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund

VALUES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

To this end, the Fund has been progressively making all strides to 
achieving this mandate. The Fund acknowledges that the year ending 
March 2020 was a difficult period for global investors such as pension 
funds. While the outlook of investments performance for 2019/20 was a 
positive one, this was however thwarted largely by the outbreak of COVID- 
19. Following its outbreak sometime in November 2019, the COVID 19 
pandemic caused immense panic in the financial markets especially in 
the months of January to March 2020 resulting in an erosion of most of 
the gains of the financial year.

The Botswana Public 
Officers Pension Fund 
(“the Fund”) remains 
committed to its mandate 
of creating value and 
providing pension benefits 
to its members and their 
beneficiaries. 
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As I reflect on the aftermath of this 
disastrous tide, I am reminded of the 
words spoken by Warren Buffett - “it is 
only after the tide when you will discover 
who was swimming naked”. Even though 
these were expressed under the context of 
financial structuring, they are even truer 
in the context of global disruptions such 
as experienced this year. 

As a pension fund, we suffered greatly from 
this tide which saw us declaring a negative 
1% for the active member and pensioner 
portfolio, 4 % for the pre-retirement, 0% 
for the With Profit pensioner portfolio for 
the year ending 31 March 2020. Quiet 
importantly, we have however made a 
remarkable recovery as can be seen from 
the strong positive interim rates the Fund 
has since been declaring.

As a Board, we are cognisant of the need 
for a disciplined approach to investing to 
ensure that the Fund can withstand the 
onslaught from the unpredictable tides 
that arise from time to time and that we 

emerge fully clothed from these tides. 
Let me once again encourage members 
nearing retirement to consider the pre-
retirement switch portfolio for purposes of 
preserving their capital. The importance of 
this provision cannot be over emphasised.

Lastly let me, on behalf of the Board, 
express words of gratitude to the CEO and 
executive management of the Fund for the 
leadership displayed in driving the Fund 
towards the realisation of its mandate, and 
all staff for their unwavering commitment 
to growing the Fund’s investments in a 
sustainable manner that enables our 
members a dignified post-career life. 

Solomon Mantswe
Board Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

The Fund has 
completed the 
midterm review of its 
2017-2022 strategic 
plan. 

It is evident from the outcome of the review that the Fund has made 
significant strides towards the attainment of an otherwise overly 
ambitious strategic goals. We have also identified areas of improvement 
which are the focus for the remaining period towards the end of the 
strategic plan. 

The Fund’s aspirations are firmly focused on the strategic pillars of 
leveraging its asset base, optimising its operating model, risk and 
compliance and developing a high performance team.
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The Fund recognises the importance 
of continued member education and 
communication which a policy has been 
developed to guide its execution.  During 
the year under review, in addition to its 
numerous outreach programmes such 
as workshops, meetings and exhibitions 
the Fund rolled out the CEO’s Member 
Engagement tour in Gaborone, Francistown, 
Maun and Jwaneng. The Fund is thus 
committed to conducting more member and 
stakeholder engagements in the coming 
financial year.

The board and management of the Fund 
have ensured sound financial management 
of the Fund as evidenced by the unqualified 
audit opinion for the year under review. 
Notably, we have made changes to our 
financial reporting in order to enhance our 
members and stakeholders’ understanding 
of the Fund’s performance by identifying 
and attributing performance between 
membership and investment activities. 
Further changes were made with regard 
to reporting cashflows in gross terms as 
compared to a net amount. It is on account 
of these changes that the Fund had to 
restate the 2019 figures.

The Fund’s asset base continues to grow 
despite the challenges experienced. The total 
assets of the fund were valued at BWP 67, 
17 billion as at 31st March 2020 compared 
to BWP 66, 52 billion last year. As such we 
assure our members and stakeholders that 
the BPOPF is fully funded.

The Fund has made significant progress 
with its fund administration outsourcing 
project, which the Fund is undertaking as 
part of implementing the provisions of the 
Retirement Funds Act and its Regulations. 
The project started with a comprehensive 
fund administration business case and is 
scheduled for completion during the third 
quarter of the year 2020/21.

The Fund will continue to intensify its efforts 
towards improving the quality of service in 
order to support the government’s efforts 
towards affording its employees a dignified 
life post their working life and to contribute 
to the economic growth of this country.

I would like to extend my appreciation to 
the Board for their support and leadership, 
the Non-Banking Financial Institutions 
Regulatory Authority for oversight, the 
various stakeholders and the employees of 
the Fund for their commitment displayed 
throughout the year under review. It is only 
through these concerted efforts that the 
Fund will grow and deliver on its mandate.

Moemedi Malindah
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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FINANCE REPORT

Description
2020
P’000

2019
P’000  

Variance
P’000

% change

Private equities 4,530,342 4,539,243  (8,901) -

Local equities 10,639,209 11,222,460  (583,251) -5 

Offshore equities 34,849,651 36,299,997 (1,450,346) -4 

Local fixed interest   6,659,966 6,343,935 316,031 5 

Offshore fixed interest 2,546,160 2,131,024 415,136 19 

Money market securities 7,001,349   5,255,598 1,745,751  33

Investment property 532,189 551,580 19,391         -4

DECLINE IN MARKET VALUES

Adjustments to asset values are required to reflect the business reality of 
an asset at any particular point in time. Such provisions are made when 
an asset has a lower market value than when the original investment 
or valuation was made. Asset values fluctuate over time, impacted by 
market conditions and the performance of the underlying businesses, 
and therefore the asset may subsequently recover, or even exceed, the 
value of the original investment. 

Over the course of the year under 
review the BPOPF has impaired 
a number of investment and 
unlisted properties. 

ADOPTED INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

IFRS 16 - LEASES

The Fund adopted the new 
standard which replaces IAS 17 
Leases and introduces a single 
lessee accounting model. The 
impact is the recognition of a 
right-of-use asset (P10.7 million) 
and a lease liability (P12.5 
million) for all the leases except 
short-term or low value leases 
which are expensed on a straight 
line basis.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF 
THE YEAR

ACCUMULATED FUNDS AND 
RESERVES AS AT 31 MARCH 
2020

The BPOPF’s accumulated funds 
and reserves amounted to P58.9 
billion, a growth of 0.5% from the 
2018/2019 financial year and the 
minimal increase is due to the 
impact of Covid-19 pandemic on 
the financial markets. There is 
confidence that the Fund shall 
recover.

Below is the movement of major 
asset classes over the reporting 
period. Refer to Note 14 of the 
annual financial statements.
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BENEFITS PAID

The Fund awards benefits upon a member’s 
resignation, retirement, or death. The Pension Fund 
also pays funeral benefits when applicable. The 
amount of total benefits paid during the year under 
review increased by P694 million (2019: reduced 
by P465 million) which represents a 49% increase, 
mainly due to the increase in retirement payments.

MOVEMENT IN BENEFITS PAID (P’MILLION)

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED AND ACCRUED

The Fund receives a percentage of members’ 
pensionable salaries as contributions. Contributions 
received increased by 20% during the reporting 
period, from P2.9 billion in 2019 to P3.5 billion in 
2020. This result is mainly due to members’ annual 
salary increases.

INCREASE IN CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED (P’MILLION)

PENSIONERS ANNUITY

The BPOPF has experienced an increase related 
to the number of pensioners who are receiving a 
monthly pension.

MOVEMENT IN PENSION ANNUITIES PAID (P’MILLION)

NET REPLACEMENT RATIO

One of the strategic measures of the measures of 
the Fund is the net replacement ratio (NRR) which 
indicates the average members earn at retirement in 
relation to their final salary. In 2020, the NRR was 
45.39% an improvement compared to 42% last year.

FUNDING LEVEL

As at 31 March 2020, the Fund was in a financially 
sound position at 100.3%, a decline from 100.8% 
achieved in 2019 financial year end. This is due to 
the effects of COVID-19 on the Fund’s assets. The 
funding level communicates an assurance that 
member benefits shall be settled when they become 
due.
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FUND ADMINISTRATION REPORT

Membership Portfolio Year 2019 Year 2020

Active members 143,772 145,668

Deferred pensioners 9,861 9,569

Pre-retirement switch 
members

45 50

Pensioners 8,373 8,876

TOTAL 162,051 164,163

BENEFITS PAYMENTS

Type of exit Year 2019 Year 2020

Retirement 2,668 3,040

Withdrawals 753 633

Death 644 626

Transfer out 89 181

TOTAL 4,156 4,480

BPOPF RULES

BPOPF reviewed its Rules to align them with 
the provisions of the new Retirement Funds Act. 
The Rules have been approved by the Board of 
Trustees, the Non-Bank Financial Institutions 
Regulatory Authority and Commissioner of Taxes 
(Botswana Unified Revenue Services) and they 
have been uploaded on the BPOPF website.

BPOPF MEMBERSHIP

As at 31st March 2020 BPOPF membership is 
as follows;

KNOW YOUR MEMBER PROJECT 

The Fund intensified its visibility through the 
Know Your Member initiative by visiting all the 
Ministries to collect member static data. The 
project is aimed at:

• Cleansing member data for members who 
joined the service before the Fund was 
established in 2001 and those who are in 
the retirement bracket.    

• Ensuring member data integrity.

• Reducing timelines for processing of 
claims as much time was taken in verifying 
member data before payment is done.

• Ensuring adherence to BPOPF Service 
Standards.
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1. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The BPOPF Board and management has 
implemented a risk management process 
that is based on the principles set out in the 
COSO ERM framework 2017 ,ISO 31000 and 
other best practices including the International 
Organisation of Pension Supervisors 
(IOPS), KING III & KING IV Code of Corporate 
Governance.

This risk management process enables 
management to effectively deal with uncertainty 
and associated risks y promptly, thus enhancing 
the member and stakeholder value.

2. IDENTIFIED ISSUES AND RISKS IN THE 
    FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING 2019/20 

The Fund is managing risks inherent in all its administrative 
and business activities with a view to ensure effective 
risk management. The risks are identified, reported and 
managed on an ongoing basis through the use of risk 
registers. These are discussed through the Fund’s various 
structures on a quarterly basis.  They mainly included 
Regulatory, Operational, Strategic, Compliance, Agency, 
Data Security and Information Technology Governance, 
Investment, Market and Business risks. These strategic 
risks contributed to the development of the Internal Audit 
Plan to direct their efforts to high risk areas within the 
Fund. Financial losses were incurred due to regulatory 
penalties.

RISK COMPLIANCE REPORT
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3. REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

3.1 Compliance with the Financial Intelligence 
Act 2019 and its Regulations & NBFIRA AML/CFT 
& P Guidance Note 1 of 2020 on Proliferation 
and Proliferation financing

The Fund reviewed its AML/CFT & P Policy to 
comply and align it to the Financial Intelligence 
Act 2019, its Regulations and NBFIRA AML/CFT 
& P Guidance Note 1 of 2020 on Proliferation 
and Proliferation Financing.

4. ETHICS

4.1 Tip-off service/whistle blowing facility

The Fund continues to use the services of a tip-off 
anonymous facility to promote protection of its 

whistle blowers through an independent service 
provider. This facility is used to report issues of 
fraud, corruption and maladministration within 
the Fund. It is open to staff, members of the 
Fund, all the relevant stakeholders and the Public 
at large.

CONCLUSION

Effective risk and compliance management is 
key to the Fund. It is crucial that all trustees, 
employees, service providers and members take 
part in the overall effective risk management of 
the BPOPF.BPOPF further commits to transparent 
reporting to all its stakeholders.
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ASSET UNDER MANAGEMENT GROWTH

Assets under management grew from BWP 
66.532 billion in 2019 to BWP 67,17 billion in 
2020. This is a 1% growth. The last quarter of 
the year was the most difficult period due to 
volatility in the market as we grasp the impact 
of COVID 19 pandemic.  The portfolio was valued 
at BWP 71.4 billion as at January 1st 2020, but 
most of those gains were eroded in the month of 
February and March.

Going forward we anticipate turbulence as we 
ride the short-term volatility raging through the 
markets. Mild to rough turbulence is expected 
ahead, but the turbulence is not to the extent of 
aborting the focus of the IPS. On the contrary, 
the turbulence present opportunities for mid-
term rebounds. We therefore will continue to be 
exposed in all asset classes as per our strategy. 

Note: Non-profit declarations are defined at start 
of purchasing annuity.

INVESTMENT REPORT

PORTFOLIO

Active Member & Pensioner 
Portfolio

With Profit Pensioner Portfolio

Pre-retirement Switch Portfolio

March 
2019

9.2 %

2.0%

5.1%

March 
2020

-1%

0%

4%

The following table shows the return declared on 
the different portfolios
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DEVELOPMENTS IN THE PORTFOLIOS
 
Major implementation milestones of the portfolio will be achieved the upcoming year;

a) The Fund is at advance stages to complete Africa and China Allocation.

b) The local portfolio mandates are under review and will be completed in the year 2020/2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1. BOARD OF TRUSTEES STATEMENT ON 
GOVERNANCE 

The Botswana Public Officers Pension Fund 
(“BPOPF”, or the “Fund”)’ has developed a robust 
and effective governance framework to enable 
it to attain its strategic goals and to discharge 
its obligations to the members. The Fund’s 
governance framework is firmly rooted on the King 
Code on Corporate Governance, the Retirement 
Funds Act, 2014 (the “Act”), the Retirement 
Funds Regulations (2016), the Non- Banking 
Financial Institutions Regulatory Authority   
(“NBFIRA”)’s Prudential Fund Rules, the BPOPF 
Rules (the Rules), the BPOPF Board Charter and 
other applicable legislation. The BPOPF Board 
of Trustees (the Board of Trustees) is cognisant 
of its duty to create an enabling environment 
for good corporate governance, culture and 
practices to permeate throughout the Fund. To 

that end, the Board, in furtherance of its primary 
responsibility of creating value for the members 
has remained steadfast in upholding the pillars 
of corporate governance being transparency, 
accountability, fairness and responsibility. This 
is also in line with the principles of the King 
Code on Corporate Governance which the Fund 
has adopted and aspires to uphold. As such 
the BPOPF is required to apply all the King IV 
principles as read with the sector supplement 
for retirement funds.  Appendix A illustrates how 
the Fund has applied each of the seventeen (17) 
governance principles of King IV.

2. THE GOVERNING BODY

The Board of Trustees is the governing body of 
the Fund and is constituted in terms of the Act 
and the Rules of the Fund. The Board consists of   
eleven (11) Trustees, five (5) of which are appointed 
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by the Botswana Government (Employer Trustees), five (5) by the members of the Fund (Member 
Trustees), and one (1) Independent Specialist Trustee appointed by the Board. The term of office for 
the Trustees is five years, with provision for reappointment for another five-year term. Table 1 below 
lists the Trustees of the Fund during the financial year end 2019/2020. The Trustees designations, 
qualifications and levels of experience are as per Appendix B.

EMPLOYER TRUSTEE APPOINTING AUTHORITY  APPOINTING AUTHORITY

EMPLOYER TRUSTEES

Mr. Solomon Mantswe
(Board Chairman)

Government of Botswana (Botswana Police Service) 30/04/2013

Ms. Emma Peloetletse Government of Botswana (Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Development)

01/10/2013 – 15.10.2019

Ms. Ruth Maphorisa Directorate of Public Service Management 17/11/2016 – 31.12.2019

Mr. Legomela Molodi Government of Botswana (Office of the President) 31/03/2018

MEMBER TRUSTEE APPOINTING AUTHORITY  APPOINTING AUTHORITY

MEMBER TRUSTEES

Mr. Tobokani Rari Members (BOSETU) 30/11/2014

Ms. Neo Joel Members (NALCGPWU) 17/06/2015

Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa Members (BLLAHWU) 30/11/2014 – 15.10.2019

Mr. Topias Marenga Members (BOPEU) 30/11/2014 – 06.02.2020

Mr. Agang Gabana Members (BTU) 17/11/2016

INDEPENDENT SPECIALIST 
TRUSTEE

APPOINTING AUTHORITY  APPOINTING AUTHORITY

Ms. Rutang Moses Board (Independent Specialist Trustee) 24/08/2018

LEGEND OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOSETU Botswana Secondary School Teachers Union

BLLAHWU Botswana Land Boards Local Authorities & Health 
  Workers Union

BOPEU  Botswana Public Employees Union

NALCGPWU National Amalgamated Local & Central Government 
  & Parastatal Manual Workers Union

BTU  Botswana Teachers Union
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3. THE STRATEGIC ROLE OF THE BOARD

THE DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

The Board provides oversight and strategic 
leadership to the Fund. It is the primary governance 
structure charged with the high level oversight of 
the Fund’s strategy and organisational performance 
in order to create value for the members of the 
Fund. Below is a summary of the overall duties 
of the Board as outlined in the Board Charter, the 
Rules- of the Fund and the statutory requirements 
of the Act:

• to manage, control and administer the Fund;

• to provide strategic and policy direction for the 
management of the Fund;

• to establish and review the risk management 
framework of the Fund;

• to ensure that proper internal control systems 
are in place to manage risks;

• to determine the investment policy, setting 
out investment guidelines and performance 
benchmarks in line with the policy;

• to monitor operational compliance; and

• to establish and manage stakeholder 
relationships.

THE BOARD MEETINGS

The Board’s role is that of a fiduciary nature, 
which entails decisions being made for and on 
behalf of the members. Decision making is by way 
of resolutions passed at formal board meetings. 
In accordance with the Board Charter and the 
Rules, the Board must convene at least once each 
quarter to execute its mandate. However, there is 
provision for special meetings to be held in order 
for the Board to dispense with critical and urgent 
matters. In the Financial Year under review, the 

Board held four (4) regular meetings and eight (8) 
special meetings, and the Trustees’ attendance at 
the Board and Committees ‘meetings was as per 
Appendix C.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain functions to 
well-structured sub committees constituted by 
Trustees and Management, in the case of the Risk 
Committee. That notwithstanding, accountability 
for the functions carried out by the committees 
rests with the Board. Below are the sub- committees 
of the Board in the year under review:

BENEFITS COMMITTEE

During the year under review, the following 
were members of the Benefits Committee, Ms. R 
Maphorisa (Chairman, until 31.12.2019), Mr. A 
Gabana), and Mr. K Motshegwa, Ms. N D Joel, Mr. S 
Mantswe. The Benefits committee is entrusted with 
the oversight function of the Board of Trustees over 
matters relating to the administration of member 
benefits.

FINANCE AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Finance and Investment Committee comprised 
of the following members Mrs. E Peloetletse 
(Chairman until 15.10.2019), Ms. R Moses, Mr. 
L Molodi and Mr. T Rari (Chairman effective 
from 19.11.2019). This committee discharges 
the oversight function of the Board over the 
Fund’s finance and investment related matters in 
accordance with applicable laws, Rules, Investment 
Policy Statement (IPS) and other applicable policies 
and regulations.

RISK COMMITTEE

During the year under review, the Risk Committee 
comprised of Mr. K. Motshegwa (Chairman until 
15.10.2019), Ms. R Maphorisa, Ms. R Moses 
(Chairman with effect from 31.10.2019), Ms. N Joel 
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and Mr. A. Gabana. The Principal Officer and the Risk 
& Compliance Manager are executive members of 
this committee pursuant to Prudential Fund Rule 
2 (PFR 2). The Risk Committee is entrusted with 
the oversight function of the Board over matters 
relating to Risk Management in the Fund.

HUMAN RESOURCE AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

During the year under review, the Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee comprised of Mr. 
T Marenga (Chairman until 31.01.2020), Mr. S 
Mantswe, Ms. N Joel ,  Ms. E Peloetletse and Mr. 
A. Gabana. The Committee is entrusted with the 
Board’s oversight function over all matters relating 
to ethical management of human resources within 
the Fund in line with applicable labour laws, policies 
and best practice.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

3.3.4.1 The Audit Committee comprised of the 
following members, Mr. L D Molodi (Chairman) 
Mr. A Gabana, Mr. T Marenga, and Mr. T Rari. 
The Committee has approved terms of reference 
outlining its duties are as follows:

• to monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements of the fund at year end and any other 
formal announcement relating to its financial 
performance, reviewing significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements which they 
contain; 

• to review and advise the Board on the effectiveness 
of the fund’s internal controls in the context of 
the Fund’s overall risk management system; 

• to monitor and review the effectiveness of the 
fund’s internal audit function;

• to consider and approve the remit of the internal 
audit function and ensure it has adequate 

resources and appropriate access to information 
to enable it to perform its function effectively 
and in accordance with the relevant professional 
standards.

TRUSTEE TRAINING AND CAPACITY BUILDING

In line with the statutory requirements to 
continuously develop and upskill members of the 
board, the Fund developed and implemented a 
training plan for Trustees in order to capacitate 
them   with the necessary to discharge their 
fiduciary responsibilities effectively. This is 
necessary especially in the fast evolving pension 
and investment industries. This year the Fund’s 
Trustee training plan included participation in the 
following industry specific training :

• Anti-Money Laundering training

• Developing the Effective Audit Committee 
training

• Corporate Governance Training on King IV

• Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
Board Training

REMUNERATION OF TRUSTEES

In line with corporate governance requirements and 
international best practices, the Fund, in recognition 
of the onerous responsibility bestowed upon the 
Trustees and the time they devote to Board’s 
business, has developed a Board Remuneration 
Policy (the Policy). The Policy provides that the 
members of the Board shall receive a fixed sitting 
allowance per Committee and Board meetings, at a 
rate prescribed by the Board. 
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NO. OF SITTINGS NAME OF TRUSTEE  TOTAL AMOUNT

12 Emma Peloetletse 69,000.00

23 Tobokani Rari 122,500.00

27 Legomela Molodi 144,000.00

17 Topias Marenga 91,000.00

24 Agang Gabana 123,000.00

25 Neo Joel 128,000.00

21 Solomon Mantswe 118,500.00

11 Ketlhalefile Motshegwa 61,000.00

29 Rutang Moses 148,000.00

11 Ruth Maphorisa 59,500

TOTAL 1,064,500.00

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

Section 14 (2) (a) of the Retirement Funds Act requires the Fund 
to adopt a code of conduct. The Fund’s Code of Conduct is aimed 
at ensuring that the Board and employees of the Fund act legally, 
ethically and in the best interest of the Fund. Furthermore it seeks to 
promote good ethical conduct and responsible decision making by the 
Trustees. The Code of Conduct prescribes how the Trustees and any 
service provider of the Fund are to conduct themselves in carrying 
out their respective functions. It also provides for consequences of 
non-compliance or breaches of the Code and other policies of the 
Fund.  The Code of Conduct is applied in conjunction with the Rules, 
applicable laws and any board pronouncements or policy directive 
issued by the trustees from time to time. 

DECLARATION OF GIFTS AND ENTERTAINMENT 

The declaration of gifts is an essential element of corporate governance 
and an enabler to effectively ensure that the business of the Fund is 
carried out in a transparent manner and with utmost integrity. To 
this end, the Fund has developed a Gift and Entertainment Policy 
(the Policy) for its Trustees and Staff. The Policy is intended to avert 
situations that could compromise the independence and judgement of 
the Trustees and staff in conducting the business of the Fund. It clearly 
articulates the principles and procedures to be followed and adhered 
with regard to the receipt and disclosure of gifts and invitations to 
hospitality events from clients, stakeholders, business associates and 

other industry players. The Policy 
also prescribes the corrective and 
punitive actions to be taken in the 
event of non-adherence to the laid 
down principles and procedure.

BOARD PERFORMANCE 
ASSESSMENTS

The Board is required under Section 
14 (2) of the Act to assess its 
performance annually. The Board 
assessed its performance for the 
period under review through an 
independent facilitation process. 
The assessment addressed 
the Board’s contribution to 
developing strategy and policy, 
their understanding of their 
roles and responsibilities, 
personal engagement, the 
board’s performance relative to 
its objectives, performance of 
the business, compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations, 
risk management, adequacy of the 
governance structures of the Fund 
including consideration of relevant 
skills and the effectiveness of 
board meetings amongst others. 
It also entailed appraising the 
performance of the Chairman 
of the Board, Chairmen of the 
five Committees, the Board as a 
collective and the competencies 
of individual trustees. The 
assessment went further to 
evaluate each trustees’ personal 
engagement and commitment 
to the Board, and the quality of 
interpersonal relations

Table 2 below shows the total remuneration in respect of each Trustee 
during the year under review:
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The key observations and recommendations from the 
performance reviews can be succinctly summarised 
as follows;

• The overall picture regarding performance of 
the board is that of progress.

• the board’s level of personal engagement was 
good and constructive

• the Trustees’ level of understanding their roles 
and responsibilities was high. The training they 
have received has capacitated them to discharge 
their roles.

• the Board upholds its independence and 
authority in dealing with infringement of the 
fundamental principles of governance.

• The Fund remains highly compliant with most 
aspects of applicable legislation and regulation.

• There is need to include more independent 
specialist trustees with the requisite 
competencies in order to improve the efficiency 
of the board.

• there is a challenge of attrition to its composition 
and the resultant high vacancy level which does 
not augur well for effective governance.

• The Fund should take a proactive approach to 
engaging key stakeholders, especially the trustees’ 
nominating authorities. More particularly, the 
Fund should be more assertive in profiling the key 
credentials of prospective Trustees irrespective 
of the nominating authorities.

• There is need for a comprehensive review of 
the corporate strategy to take into account the 
impact of the covid 19 pandemic and the black 
listing of Botswana by the European Union on 
the Fund’s investments. 

• The Fund should apply itself to formulating 
and implementing an effective communications 
strategy with focus on the strategic issues 
confronting the Fund and how it is responding 
to such.

• The Fund should adopt a more proactive stance 
with regard to building more constructive 
relations based on trust and mutual respect 
with its Regulator, NBFIRA.

The Board is working on drawing up action plans 
on the recommendations emanating from the 
performance assessments for implementation.
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 1 The Board should set the 
tone and lead ethically and 
effectively

The Board has set the tone of ethical leadership by developing and 
adopting the following policies, codes, rules and practices :

1. Fund Rules – require that in the discharge of their duties, the 
trustees must act in good faith towards the Fund’s stakeholders; 
avoid conflict of interests and act with impartiality in respect of 
Members and Beneficiaries.

2. The Code of Conduct - prescribes how the Trustees, Staff and 
any service provider of the Fund are to conduct themselves in 
carrying out their respective functions.

3. Gift and Entertainment Policy- articulates the principles and 
procedures to be adhered to regarding the receipt and disclosure 
of gifts and invitations to hospitality events from clients, 
stakeholders, business associates and other industry players. 

4. Whistle Blowing Policy - provides an avenue for raising 
concerns related to fraud, corruption or any other misconduct 
by employees, business partners or any other third party dealing 
with the Fund. 

PRINCIPLE 2 The Board should ensure that 
the Fund’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

The Board ensures that there is effective management of the Fund’s 
ethics by;

1. Prescribing the corrective and punitive actions to be taken 
in the event of breach and or non-adherence to the principles, 
procedure and practices laid down in the various codes, policies 
and rules.

2. Assessing and sanctioning appropriate corrective measures, 
administrative actions and any other penalties in respect of 
incidents of misconduct, corruption, breaches of policy and or 
unlawful practices.  

PRINCIPLE 3 The Board should ensure that 
the Fund is a responsible 
corporate citizen.

The Board has developed a Citizen Economic Empowerment Policy 
through which the Fund undertook to create an environment in 
which citizens of Botswana, and citizen owned companies, are 
empowered to participate meaningfully in the economy of this 
country, especially in its procurement of goods and services 
processes.

KING IV DICLOSURES

A report on the BPOPF’s application of King IV Principles on Corporate Governance 
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 4 The Board should lead the 
value creation process by 
appreciating that strategy, risk 
and opportunity, performance 
and sustainable development 
are inseparable elements.

The Fund’s strategic planning process demonstrates the Board’s 
ongoing commitment to the sustained success of the BPOPF. The 
Board has developed the Fund’s Corporate Strategic Plan (2017-
2020) which takes cognizance of the prevailing trends in the global 
and local retirement fund space and captures growth targets with 
the aim of creating increased value for the members. The Board 
ensures that this is carried out against the setting of an enhanced 
risk and compliance framework, robust internal capabilities and 
comprehensive reporting.

The Board oversees the implementation of the Fund’s Investment 
Strategy to ensure that targeted investment returns are achieved as 
planned for the benefit of the members

PRINCIPLE 5 The Board should ensure 
that the reports and other 
disclosures enable the 
members to make an informed 
assessments of the Fund’s 
performance, and its ability to 
create value in a sustainable 
manner.

The Board has put in place mechanisms for disclosures and reports 
which ensure that there is meaningful communication to the 
members. These include;

1. Annual Trustee Reports- these are issued to members 
after the end of each financial year as a report on the overall 
performance of the Fund. The reports are disseminated to all 
the members and other critical stakeholders.

2. Member Benefit Statements - the Board, through its Actuary 
conducts an actuarial valuation at the end of each financial 
year to ascertain the Fund’s financial soundness. The report is 
submitted to the Non-Banking Financial Institutions Regulatory 
Authority (NBFIRA). It is on the basis of the actuarial valuation 
that the Board is able to declare interests on member fund 
credits and benefit statements issued to the members.

3. Member Quotations - Members are, upon request at any 
time, issued with quotations advising them of their fund credits 
to assist them in making retirement decisions

PRINCIPLE 6 The Fund’s Board should 
serve as the focal point 
and custodian of corporate 
governance in the Fund.

The Board as the custodian of corporate governance in the Fund 
has documented its roles, responsibilities, powers and procedures 
in the Board Charter.

PRINCIPLE 7 The Board should ensure that 
in its composition it comprises 
an appropriate balance of 
skill, knowledge, experience, 
diversity independence and 
knowledge needed to discharge 
its governance role and 
responsibilities.

The constitution of the Board is prescribed by the Retirement 
Funds Act. The Board is currently constituted by trustees with 
varying and relevant knowledge, skill and experience notably on 
the following key disciplines; financial management, investment 
management, risk management, law, communications and 
corporate governance among others. 
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 8 The Board should consider 
creating additional governing 
structures to assist with the 
balancing of power and the 
effective discharge of its 
responsibilities, but without 
abdicating accountability.

The Fund has delegated certain of its responsibilities to working 
Committees; Finance & Investment Committee, Risk Management 
Committee, Human Resources & Remuneration Committee, 
Benefits Committee and Audit Committee. These committees are 
constituted by Trustees and Executive Management (in the case 
of the Risk Committee). All Committees report to the Board on a 
regular basis and set out in the Board Charter for decision making.

PRINCIPLE 9 The Board should ensure 
that the evaluations of its 
own performance and that of 
its structures, its chair and 
members and the principal 
officer result in continued 
improved performance and 
effectiveness.

In line with the requirements of the Retirement Funds Act, the 
Board evaluated its performance, committees and individual 
trustees facilitated by an independent consultant. The Board is 
responsible for ensuring that the recommendations from the 
evaluations are implemented in order to improve its effectiveness. 

PRINCIPLE 10 The board should ensure 
that the appointment of, 
and delegation to competent 
executive management 
contributes to an effective 
arrangement by which 
authority and responsibilities 
are exercised. 

The Board is responsible for the appointment of the Chief Executive 
Officer/Principal Officer whilst the responsibility of appointment 
other executive management rests with the Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee. 

There is in place an approved Delegation of Authority Matrix through 
which the Board delegates certain powers and responsibilities to 
executive management.

PRINCIPLE 11 The Board should govern risk 
and opportunity in a way that 
supports the Fund in setting 
and achieving its strategic 
objectives

The Board has developed Risk Management Policy and Framework, 
setting the Fund’s risk appetite and tolerance to both strategic and 
operational risks that the Fund is exposed to. The policy outlines 
a process of risk management that is aligned with generally 
accepted good practice as well relevant governance instruments. 
The Fund also has risk management structures in place that are 
responsible for the identification, management and monitoring of 
risks at different levels of the organisation being; the Executive 
Risk Management Committee, the Risk Committee and the Board.

PRINCIPLE 12 The Board should govern 
technology and information in 
a way that supports the Fund 
in setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives.

The board has commenced the implementation of the five-year 
Information Technology (IT) strategy. The strategy is to ensure 
that the Fund’s information technology objectives are aligned to 
its business objectives. 

The Fund has commenced implementation of the Cybersecurity 
Programme.

The Risk committee of the board ensures that IT risks are identified 
and properly mitigated. The board carried out an IT audit to get an 
independent assurance on the effectiveness of its IT governance 
i. e its alignment to the corporate strategy, risk management and 
the delivery of value through information technology.
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRINCIPLE 13 The Board should govern 
compliance with applicable 
laws and ensure consideration 
of adherence to non-binding 
rules, codes and standards.

The Fund’s compliance with laws, regulation and relevant 
standards is monitored by the Board through the Risk Committee. 

PRINCIPLE 14 The Board should ensure that 
the Fund remunerations fairly, 
responsibly and transparently 
to promote the creation of 
value in a sustainable manner.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee of the Board 
has a delegated responsibility over matters relating to the Fund’s 
remuneration policy and practices. The Committee is mandated 
to review the implementation of the Fund’s remuneration policy 
to assess whether the set objectives are being achieved, which 
include fairness and transparency as well to cultivate and maintain 
a high-level performance culture to assist the Fund to fulfil its 
mandate and strategic objectives. 

PRINCIPLE 15 The Board should ensure 
that assurance results in an 
adequate and effective control 
environment and integrity of 
reports for better decision-
making.

The Board of Trustees, through its Audit Committee, exercises 
oversight relating to financial reporting and internal controls. 
The Fund has an independent Internal Audit function that 
reports directly to the Audit Committee to provide assurance 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment. 
The Internal Audit function has an Internal Audit Charter which 
outlines the function’s mandate and the reporting lines, which 
forms the basis for the function’s independence. Internal Audit 
reports to the Board of Trustees through the Audit Committee.
The Board through the Audit Committee, regularly receive and 
review reports from Internal Audit that provide assurance that 
significant risks are subject to periodic review, that controls are 
reviewed for adequacy and effectiveness and that action is taken 
to rectify identified control weaknesses. The systems of internal 
control are designed to provide reasonable assurance that policies, 
processes, tasks, behaviours and other aspects of the Fund, taken 
together, facilitate its effective and efficient operation, help to 
ensure the quality of internal and external reporting, and helps 
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Such 
systems of internal control are designed to manage the risks 
of failure to meet the Fund’s objectives, providing reasonable 
assurance against material loss or misstatements.
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REQUIREMENT APPLICATION AND COMPLIANCE BY THE BPOPF

PRICIPLE 16 As part of its decision-making 
in the best interests and 
expectations of the Fund, 
the Board should ensure 
that a member –inclusive 
approach is adopted, which 
takes into account and 
balances their legitimate and 
reasonable needs, interests and 
expectations.

The Fund has adopted an inclusive approach in its decision making 
and has put in place the following policies/products 

1. Member Communication Policy - this policy profiles the 
membership of the Fund, outlines their specific communication 
needs and prescribes the appropriate in order to manage and 
balance the interests of different member categories.

2. Dispute Resolution Policy - this policy aims at ensuring 
that member queries and grievances are adequately and 
timeously addressed through the appropriate structures.

3. Service Standards- give the members assurance that the 
services they require are provided within the agreed timelines 
and that their interests and expectations in service provisions 
taken into consideration.

4. Member products - There is the pre-retirement switch 
product for members nearing retirement or those in the 
retirement bracket to preserve what they have already 
accumulated as their retirement benefits

5. Pre-retirement counselling – the Fund through an appointed 
service provider, provides members who are nearing retirement 
with the necessary financial counselling and planning ensure 
that they are  able to make the right decisions with regard to 
their retirement.

PRINCIPLE 17 The Board should ensure 
that the Fund responsibly 
exercises its rights, 
obligations, legitimate and 
reasonable needs, interests 
and expectations, as a holder 
of beneficial interest in the 
securities/ investments in a 
company (s) ( i.e. responsible 
investment for value creation 
by the companies in which the 
Fund invests.)

The Board outsources investment management functions to 
licensed Asset Managers. The Fund has direct relationship with all 
its Asset Managers through the execution of portfolio management 
following a rigorous due diligence process on the asset managers 
and the investee companies. These agreements clearly articulate 
the rights, obligations and expectations of the Board and are 
continuously monitored. They further prescribe courses of action 
in the event of breaches in order to protect the interests of the 
Fund.
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Trustee Designations Educational
Qualifications

Experience

Mr Solomon 
Mantswe

Director of 
Departmental 
Management 
Services with the 
Botswana Police 
Services

Diploma in News 
Agency Journalism
National Diploma in 
Mass Communication

- a qualified journalist with over 20 years of 
experience in the field of communications.

-over 8 years’ experience in administration, 
human resources, salaries and welfare, 
external and in-service training, legal 
services and occupational health and safety.  

Brigadier Charles 
Nkele

Deputy Chief 
Assistant of 
Staff- Finance 
– Botswana 
Defence Force

Diploma in 
Accountancy and 
Business Studies 
Higher National 
Diploma in 
Accountancy 
CIMA Stage 2
MSc in National 
Security Strategy

-Management of welfare schemes such as 
Fund Loans, Property and Life Insurance.

- Management of business operations and 
budgeting.

Ms. Emma 
Peloetletse

Accountant 
General of the 
Government of 
Botswana

- Post Graduate 
Diploma in Public 
Finance Management 
and ICT

-Bachelor of 
Commerce and  
Accounting- 
University of 
Botswana

- Public Finance Management and 
Budgeting

- Strategic leadership

Ms Ruth 
Maphorisa

Director of 
Public Services 
Management – 
Government of 
Botswana

-Certificate in 
Provincial and Local 
Government Law
-Bachelor of Arts- 
Economics and Public 
Administration
-Masters of Arts- 
Rural Development

- Public service management
- Strategic management and leadership
- Procurement

Mr Legomela 
Molodi

General Counsel 
– Office of the 
President of 
Botswana

Bachelor of Laws ( 
LLB)

Master of Laws (LLM- 
Environmental Law)  

-10 years of experience and a rich 
knowledge of the Law at a national advisory 
level.

- Experience in policy formulation. 
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Trustee Designations Educational
Qualifications

Experience

Mr Tobokani Rari Secretary General 
– BOSETU

Bachelor of Education  -Experienced in industrial and labour 
relations.

- Strategic management and leadership.

- corporate governance

Mr Ketlhalefile 
Motshegwa

Secretary 
General- 
BLLAWHU

BA Social Sciences- 
Political Science and 
Public Administration

-Experienced in industrial and labour 
relations.

- Strategic management and leadership.

-Human Resources management

- corporate governance

Mr Topias 
Marenga

Secretary General 
- BOPEU

Advanced Diploma in 
Human Resource

Diploma in Labour 
Law

Diploma in 
Purchasing & Supply 
Management

-Experienced in industrial and labour 
relations.

- Strategic management and leadership.

-Human resources and procurement

- corporate governance

Mr Agang Gabana Secretary General 
- BTU

Bachelor of Science in 
Education

-Experienced in industrial and labour 
relations.

- Strategic management and leadership.

- corporate governance

Ms Neo  Joel Project Manager- 
NALCGPWU

Collective Bargaining

Negotiation Skills

Strategic Planning 

Job Evaluation

Grievance Handling

-Experienced in industrial and labour 
relations.

- Strategic management and leadership.

- corporate governance

Ms Rutang Moses Chief Executive 
officer of RH 
Diamonds 
Limited

Bachelor of Arts

MSc Industrial & 
Labour Relations

Global Leadership 
Programme

-10 years of experience and a rich 
knowledge of the Law at a national advisory 
level.

- Experience in policy formulation. 
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Mr Tobokani Rari Secretary General 
– BOSETU

Bachelor of Education  -an experienced international strategist with 
over 13 years’ experience in the banking 
industry of which the majority was attained 
in Britain at Standard Chartered Bank PLC.

-Extensive leadership experience spanning 
several Asian and European countries, where 
I have delivered with multi-cultural teams, 
and diverse banking strategies across 
different functions.

- serves on numerous boards including 
Botswana Couriers and Logistics since 2017, 
a member of the SADC Parliamentary Forum 
since 2016, as a non-executive Director of 
Botswana Post and Savings Bank Limited 
since 2013, the Board of Trustees for the 
Duke of Edinburgh Charity and Botswana 
Foundation Trust since 2015.

- a member of the African Leadership 
Network (ALN) since 2012.

LEGEND OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOSETU Botswana Secondary School Teachers Union

BLLAHWU Botswana Land Boards Local Authorities & Health Workers Union

BOPEU  Botswana Public Employees Union

NALCGPWU National Amalgamated Local & Central Government & Parastatal Manual Workers 
  Union

BTU  Botswana Teachers Union



| BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 31

TRUSTEES’ MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

Below are tables showing the Trustees’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings for the year 
2019/2020.

LEGEND
 -  Present§ A - Absent NYA - Not yet appointed§NL - No longer on the Board

1. ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS

TRUSTEE 01/04/ 
2019

08/04/ 
2019

14/06/ 
2019

22/08/ 
2019

15/10/ 
2019

21/11/ 
2019

03/02/ 
2020

06/02/ 
2020

20/02/ 
2020

02/03/ 
2020

31/03/ 
2020

Mr. Solomon S. 
Mantswe

Ms. Emma 
Peloetletse

A NL NL NL NL NL NL

Ms. Ruth M. 
Maphorisa

A NL NL NL NL NL

Mr. Tobokani 
Rari

A A

Mr. Ketlhalefile 
Motshegwa

NL NL NL NL NL NL

Mr. Agang
Gabana

A

Mr. Topias 
Marenga

NL NL NL NL

Ms. Neo D. 
Joel

Mr. Legomela D. 
Molodi

A A

Ms. Rutang R.K. 
Moses

A
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2. FINANCE AND INVESTMENT COMITTE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

4. RISK COMMITTEEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

3. BENEFITS COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

TRUSTEE 29/04/ 
2019

23/05/ 
2019

7/06/ 
2019

24/07/ 
2019

29/08/ 
2010

26/09/ 
2019

19/11/ 
2019

12/12/ 
2019

03/02/ 
2020

12/03/ 
2020

26/03/ 
2020

Ms. Emma 
Peloetletse

NL NL NL NL NL

Mr. Tobokani 
Rari

A A A

Mr Legomela D. 
Molodi

Ms. Rutang R. K. 
Moses

A

Mr. Topias
Marenga

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NL NL

TRUSTEE 23/04/2019 16/05/2019 01/08/2019 08/10/2019 31/10/2019 06/02/2020

Ms Rutang Moses

Ms. Ruth M. Maphorisa A A NL
Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa NL NL
Ms Neo Dudu Joel

Mr. A. Gabana NA NA NA NA NA
Ms. B. Molefe A A
Ms. K. Luke

TRUSTEE 30/07/2019 29/10/2019 04/02/2020 31/03/2020

Ms. Ruth M. Maphorisa NL NL
Mr. Ketlhalefile Motshegwa NL NL NL
Mr. Agang Gabana

Ms. Neo D. Joel NA NA
Mr. Solomon Mantswe NA
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5. AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

6. HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

TRUSTEE 23/04/2019 20/08/2019 31/10/2019 18/12/2019 03/02/2020 10/02/2020

Mr Legomela Dittah Molodi

Mr Agang Gabana

Mr Topias Marenga A NL
Mr Tobokani Rari A

TRUSTEE 30/04/2019 31/07/2019 29/10/2019 04/02/2020

Mr. Topias Marenga NL
Mr. Solomon Mantswe A A
Ms. Emma Peloetletse NL NL
Ms. Neo D. Joel

Mr. Agang Gabana NA NA NA
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES

S. Mantswe
BOARD CHAIRMAN
EMPLOYER TRUSTEE
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E. Peloetletse
Employer Trustee

R. Moses
Independent Specialist Trustee

N. D. Joel 
Member Trustee

R. M. Maphorisa
Employer Trustee

L. D. Molodi 
Employer Trustee

A. Gabana
 Member Trustee

T. Rari
Member Trustee

K. M. N. Motshegwa
Member Trustee

T. Marenga
Member Trustee
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

12 3 4 5

Boitumelo Molefe
CEO/ Principal Officer

Kwenantle Otukile
Board Secretary / Legal Services Manager

Amantle Kerebotswe
Strategy and Change Manager

Moemedi Malindah
Investment & Portfolio Director

Neo Keboletse
Information Technology Director

1

2 5

4

3
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6 7 8 9 10

Kagiso Potongwane
Human Capital & Administration Director

Karabo Luke
Risk & Compliance Manager

Bedu Tlhabologang
Corporate Communication Manager

Gaolatlhe Otsetswe
Fund Administration Director

Ruth Mohurutshe
Finance Director

7

6

10

9

8
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT REPORT



| BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 39

As a way to drive its five-year corporate strategy of 
2017-2022, BPOPF continuously engage its stakeholders 
across to build relational capital. These stakeholder 
engagement practices actively support the Fund’s strategy 
and business operations, improve risk management and 
enhance brand reputation, as well as building a sustained 
business value. The Fund keeps on imparting important 
and timely information to its members through various 
communication platforms such as social media, website, 
publications and face to face communication and aims to 
continue expanding its digital platforms to reach a wider 
audience.

Increased awareness in respect of stakeholder engagement was noted in the financial 
year 2019/2020 as the Board of Trustees has been working tirelessly to rebuild and 
regain the confidence of BPOPF’s stakeholders. This has been highly enhanced by the 
Chief Executive Officer’s member engagement platforms across the country where BPOPF 
has offices which included Gaborone, Francistown, Maun and Jwaneng. The aim is to 
continue with such CEO’s member addresses in order to cover all strategic locations 
where members can be reached. 

The Fund is committed to actively interact with its members and affording them the 
opportunity to give feedback on their interests and concerns, which will help the Fund 
evaluate itself and improve on an ongoing basis to serve them better.
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ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2020
(REGISTERED 147 IN TERMS OF THE
RETIREMENT FUNDS ACT, 2014)
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General information

Acting Principal Officer

Registered office

Investment Managers

Custodians

Attorneys

Bankers

Actuary

Auditors

Mr Moemedi Malindah RMB Botswana

Monthe Marumo Attorneys incorporating 

Molatlhegi and Associates 

Minchin & Kelly (Botswana)

Werkmans Attorneys

First National Bank of Botswana Ltd

BancABC Botswana Ltd

Stanbic Bank Botswana Ltd

Argen Actuarial Solutions

Ernst & Young

Plot 54366
2nd Floor, Unit 3, Peelo Place, CBD Gaborone
+267 3617000

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd

Stanbic Investment Management Services (Pty) Ltd 

Messidor Investments (Pty) Ltd

African Alliance Botswana (Pty) Ltd

Botswana Opportunities Partnership

Epoch Investment Partners Inc

Sarasin & Partners LLP

Vontobel Asset Management Inc

Harith General Partners (Pty) Ltd

Harding Loevner

Franklin Templeton Investments

Rubrics Global UCITS Funds Plc

Stenham Trading Inc

Vantage Mezzanine

Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC

Barak Fund Management Limited

Falcon Money Management Funds Ltd

Milltrust International LLP

Moravia Capital Private Equity Fund of Funds S.C.A 

Fundsmith

Legg Mason Global Asset Management 

Artisan Partners Global Funds Plc
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NAME DESIGNATION APPOINTED RESIGNED

Mr Solomon Mantswe Chairman - Botswana Police Service 30/04/2013

Ms Emma Peloetletse Employer Trustee - Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Development

01/10/2013 15/10/2019

Ms Ruth Maphorisa Employer Trustee - Ministry of Health 04/11/2016 17/12/2019

Mr Ketlhalefile M N 
Motshegwa

Member Trustee - BLLAWU 22/04/2011 15/10/2019

Mr Topias Marenga Member Trustee - BOPEU 19/01/2010 06/02/2020

Mr Agang Gabana Member Trustee - BTU 08/12/2016

Mr Tobokani Rari Member Trustee - BOSETU 30/11/2014

Ms Neo D Joel Member Trustee - NALCGPWU 17/06/2015

Mr Dittah Molodi Employer Trustee - Office of the President 31/03/2018 03/06/2020

Ms Rutang Moses Independent Specialist Trustee 24/08/2018

Board of Trustees
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Statement of Responsibility by the 
Board of Trustees and the Principal 
Officer
The Board of Trustees and the Principal Officer of Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund are responsible 
for the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and all other information presented 
therewith. Their responsibility includes the maintenance of true and fair financial records and the 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
the rules of the Fund and the provisions of the Retirement Funds Act, 2014.

The fund’s administrator maintains systems of internal control which are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that the records accurately reflect its transactions and to provide protection 
against serious misuse or loss of Fund assets. The Board of Trustees along with the Principal Officer 
are responsible for the implementation, maintenance and monitoring of these systems of internal 
control. Nothing has come to the attention of the Trustees or the Principal Officer to indicate that any 
significant breakdown in the functioning of these systems has occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Board of Trustees 
have no reason to believe that the Fund will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based 
on forecasts and available cash resources.

Our external auditors conduct an examination of the financial statements in conformity with 
International Standards on Auditing, which include tests of transactions and selective tests of internal 
accounting controls. Regular meetings are held between the Board of Trustees and our external 
auditors to review matters relating to internal controls and financial reporting. The external auditors 
have unrestricted access to the Board of Trustees.

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements set out on pages 49 to 115, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the Board of Trustees on 28 August 2020 and were signed on their behalf by:

  
Chairman    Acting Principal Officer 
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report

To the trustees of Botswana Public Officers’ 
Pension Fund

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of 
Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund set out on 
pages 49 to 115, which comprise the statement 
of assets available for benefits as at 31 March 
2020, and the statement of changes in net assets 
available for benefits, statement of changes in 
members’ funds and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of Botswana 
Public Officers’ Pension Fund as at 31 March 2020, 
and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
the manner required by the Retirement Funds Act, 
2014.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Botswana 
Public Officers’ Pension Fund in accordance with 
the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code), and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing the audit 
of Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing the audit of Botswana Public Officers’ 
Pension Fund. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

OTHER MATTER

The financial statements of Botswana Public 
Officers’ Pension Fund for the year ended 31 
March 2019, were audited by another auditor who 
expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial 
statements on 22 February 2020.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements 
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as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed 
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial 
statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE AUDIT

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PRIVATE 
EQUITY 

Investment property and private equity are stated at fair value 
which has been determined based on valuations performed by 
accredited independent valuers, as at 31 March 2020 and 31 
March 2019.

The carrying values of investment properties as at 31 March 
2020 was P532 189 000 (2019: P551 580 000) (refer to Note 
13), and private equity was P4 530 342 257 (2019: P4 522 067 
752) (refer to Note 14).
 
The independent valuers determined the values based on the 
following:

- Investment properties -  during the current financial year 
the values were determined by using valuation methods (sales 
comparison, depreciated replacement cost, income capitalisation, 
discounted cash flow) and data inputs (future rental cash inflows, 
capitalisation rates, direct comparable sales price per square 
metre, rent escalation rates, building cost rates, discount rates) 
set out in Note 13 – Investment Property (page 80).

- Private equity - The methodology employed includes standard 
valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow (an income 
approach to valuation) and market approaches. The common 
discounted cash flow valuation techniques applied in these 
valuations are the Dividend Discount Model (DDM) and the Free 
Cash Flow to Equity Model (FCFE). The market approaches to 
valuation are either trading multiples or transaction multiples. 
(refer to Note 14)

Significant judgement is required to determine the fair value of 
investment property and private equity, especially with respect to 
the determination of unobservable inputs utilised. 

We therefore considered the valuation of these assets to be a 
matter of most significance to the current year audit due to 
the magnitude of the balance, combined with the significant 
assumptions associated with determining the fair values.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others:

• We evaluated the independent external valuers’ 
competence, capabilities and objectivity.

• We assessed the reasonableness of the valuation 
reports prepared by management’s external experts.

• We compared the valuation approaches used by the 
independent valuers against IFRS requirements and 
industry norms to confirm that the methodologies were 
appropriate under the circumstances. The valuation 
methods were comparable to those typically used in 
the market.

• We tested the accuracy of the calculations and vouched 
the source data used.  

• We evaluated management’s considerations of the 
impairment indicators of the investments. 

• We also assessed the adequacy of the fund’s 
disclosure in Note 13 Investment property and Note 
14 Investments.
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MEASUREMENT OF PENSION BENEFITS PAYABLE 

As per Note 18 – Pension fund account, the fund has significant 
pension fund liabilities amounting to P 4 438 844 798 (2019: 4 
755 004 902) for With Profit Pensioners and P 2 897 376 268 
(2019: P2 520 812 564) for Non-profit pensioners.

We considered the valuation of pension benefits payable to be 
significant to the audit of BPOPF. Actuarial assumptions and 
methodologies used in the valuation involve judgements about 
future events, both external and internal to the fund, for which 
small changes may result in a material impact to the valuation 
of benefits payable.

Economic assumptions, such as risk discount rates and allowance 
for credit defaults, and other actuarial assumptions such 
as expense assumptions, mortality, longevity, disability and 
morbidity and persistency rates, are key inputs used to estimate 
these long-term liabilities.

We performed the following review of assumptions and 
underlying methodology:

• We tested the effectiveness of key internal controls 
over the actuarial process including management’s 
determination and approval process for setting of 
economic and actuarial assumptions. 

• We involved EY’s internal actuarial specialists to assist 
us in performing our audit procedures over the models 
and assumptions, which are noted above

• We considered the appropriateness of the methodologies 
and models used, which may vary depending on the 
specifications of the policy.

• Our assessments of the assumptions included 
challenging, as necessary, specific economic and 
actuarial assumptions, considering management’s 
rationale for the actuarial judgments applied, along 
with comparison to applicable industry experiences.

• Where appropriate, we have tested the mathematical 
accuracy of the calculations performed.

• We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
regarding these liabilities in the financial statements 
to determine they were in accordance with IFRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 116-Page document titled “Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund Annual Report 2020”, 
which includes the Statement of Responsibility by the Board of Trustees and the Principal Officer. The other 
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEES FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in the manner required by the 
Retirement Funds Act, 2014, and for such internal 
control as the Trustees determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees 
are responsible for assessing the fund’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the fund or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the fund’s financial reporting processes.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the fund’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the trustees. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the fund’s ability to continue as a 
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going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the fund to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the trustees regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

From the matters communicated with the trustees, 
we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication. 

ERNST & YOUNG
Practising Member: Bakani Ndwapi 
Partner
Membership Number: (19980026)
Certified Auditor
Gaborone
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Statement Of Changes In Net Assets Available For Benefits

Figures in Pula Note(s) 2020 2019 Restated

Performance from membership activities

Members' statutory contributions 880,777,651 753,200,900

Employers contributions 2,632,543,554 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 5,502,197 4,743,632

Transfer in from other funds 4,438,956 2,487,747

Total income from members and employer 3 3,523,262,358 2,942,970,131
 
Monthly pension (619,536,099) (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 20 (41,685,095) (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on retirement 20 (1,286,012,950) (504,164,272)

Lump sums accrued on death 20 (173,894,444) (294,725,830)

Unrealised actuarial (gains)/losses (60,403,600) (500,517,475)

Total benefits to members (2,181,532,188) (1,928,000,993)

Operating expenses 9 (131,452,137) (135,900,102)

Finance costs 12 (860,051) -

(132,312,188) (135,900,102)

Change in net assets before investment activities 1,209,417,982 879,069,036

Performance from investment activities

Rental Income 68,487,526 43,411,287

Impairment of rental receivables 15 (4,322,635) -

Profit on disposal of investments 4 679,260,611 26,495,341

Interest income 5 740,472,626 745,879,167

Dividend income 6 927,506,148 954,496,162

Other investment income 7 275,380,954 285,859,778

2,686,785,230 2,056,141,735

Unrealised net fair value (loss)/gain 8 (3,238,048,764) 3,450,734,950

Total (loss)/income from investments (551,263,534) 5,506,876,685

Investment management fees 9 (261,848,994) (275,852,723)

Other investment management expenses 9 (72,113,739) (69,998,388)

Total investment expense (333,962,733) (345,851,111)

Change in net assets from investment activities (885,226,267) 5,161,025,574

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets during the year 324,191,715 6,040,094,610

The Fund has restructured its statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year ending 
31 March 2020 and consequently represented the comparative period ending 31 March 2019 (Refer to 
note 28) . The new format enhances user understanding by identifying and attributing Fund performance 
between membership and investment activities.
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* Investment Property was included under investments in the 2019 financial statements, for purposes of 
meeting IAS 40 disclosure requirement, this has now been shown separately, and hence 2019 Investment 
property and Investments amounts are now restated. Please refer to note 13.

Figures in Pula Note(s) 2020 2019 Restated

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 38,517,093 21,867,704

Right-of-use assets 12 10,710,632 -

Investment property* 13 532,189,000 551,580,000

Investments* 14 66,226,677,556 65,792,257,982

Accounts receivables 15 11,141,887 5,348,449

Cash and cash equivalents 16 354,488,199 148,637,996

Total Assets 67,173,724,367 66,519,692,131

 
Funds, Reserves and Liabilities
Funds

Active and deferred members' fund account 58,317,649,339 57,993,694,174

Reserve account 17 594,123,759 593,887,208

58,911,773,098 58,587,581,382
 
Liabilities

Pensioners' fund account - With profit pensioners 18 4,438,844,798 4,755,004,902

Pensioners' fund account - Non-profit pensioners 18 2,897,376,268 2,520,812,564

Lease liabilities 19 12,546,604 -

Benefits payable 20 843,900,681 584,877,528

Accounts payable 21 69,282,918 71,415,755

Total Liabilities  8,261,951,269 7,932,110,749

Total Funds and Liabilities 67,173,724,367 66,519,692,131

 

Statement Of Assets Available For 
Benefits as at 31 March 2020
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Statement of Changes
in Members’ Funds

Figures in Pula Reserve account Active and 
deferred members’ 

fund account

Total funds 
& reserves

Balance at 01 April 2018 855,503,728 51,691,983,045 52,547,486,773

Net increase in net assets during the year - 6,040,094,610 6,040,094,610

Transfer to reserve (261,616,520) 261,616,520 -

Balance at 01 April 2019 593,887,208 57,993,694,175 58,587,581,383

Net increase in net assets during the year - 324,191,715 324,191,715

Transfer to reserve 236,551 (236,551) -

Balance at 31 March 2020 594,123,759 58,317,649,339 58,911,773,098
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Cash flows from financing activities
Principal repayment - lease liabilities (1,191,675) -

Finance costs  (860,051) -

Net cash from financing activities  (2,051,726) -

 
Total cash movement for the year 205,850,203 9,773,492

Cash at the beginning of the year  148,637,996 138,864,504

Total cash at end of the year 16 354,488,199 148,637,996

 

*Refer to Note 29, which explains the further restructuring of Note 10 Cash Generated from Operating 
Activities for the year ending 31 March 2020 and consequently represented the comparative period ending 
31 March 2019. The new format of the note enhances user understanding by more clearly identifying 
adjustments and reclassifications required in determining cash flows from operations 29.

Statement of Cash Flows

Figures in Pula Note(s) 2020 2019 Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 10 1,556,330,901 945,963,832

Net cash from operating activities  1,556,330,901 945,963,832

 
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (26,643,319) (14,546,291)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 11 649,537 59,481

Purchase of investment property 13 (75,000,000) -

Proceeds on disposal of investments(net of management fees)*  7,746,769,927 7,266,957,066

Purchase of investments* (11,352,643,751) (10,512,755,715)

Cash withdrawal from investments 626,741,119 576,507,816

Rental received  65,984,888 47,211,974

Interest Income  738,206,479 745,879,167

Dividends received 927,506,148 954,496,162

Net cash from investing activities (1,348,428,972) (936,190,340)
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Accounting Policies

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Botswana Public Officers’ Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) is an approved Pension Fund registered and domiciled 
in Botswana under the Retirement Funds Act, 2014.

The investment activities of the Fund are managed by various Fund Managers as outlined in the General 
Information section.

1.1 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). The financial statements of the Fund were authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees on 28 
August 2020.
The financial statements incorporate the following accounting policies, which are consistent with those 
applied in the previous financial year, except where otherwise stated.

1.2 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula, which is the Fund’s functional currency. 
“Functional currency” is the currency of the primary environment in which the Fund operates. If indicators 
of the primary economic environment are mixed, then management uses its judgement to determine the 
functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect  of the underlying transactions, 
events and conditions. The majority of the Fund’s investments and transactions are denominated in Pula. 
Pension contributions and benefits paid out are determined on net assets value, received and paid out in 
Pula. A significant amount of the expenses, including management fees, custodian fees and administration 
fees, are denominated and paid out in Pula. Accordingly, management has determined the functional 
currency of the Fund is Pula.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest Pula, unless otherwise indicated.

1.3 BENEFITS PAYABLE

Benefits include lump sum payments on withdrawal, death and retirement

When a member retires from service after reaching retirement age, one third of the balance accrued in 
the member account is paid in the form of cash as lump sum payment on retirement. The balance is 
transferred into an annuity account either within the Fund or to an external annuity provider, in which 
case this is classified as lump sum payment on withdrawal.
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Lump sum entitlements are accounted for on the 
accrual basis when the member becomes entitled 
thereto through compliance with the rules of the 
Fund.

The Fund operates two types of annuities 
(participating annuities and non-participating 
annuities) and payments made out of these 
annuities are disclosed as monthly pensions in the 
statement of changes in net assets available for 
benefits.

Participating (with profit) annuities

The liabilities are equated to the fair value of the 
retrospectively accumulated underlying assets. 
This is equivalent to the best estimate prospective 
liability calculation allowing for future investment 
returns. Members’ entitlements emerge in line 
with return on investments less expenses incurred 
consistent with work done and risk borne over the 
lifetime of annuities.

Non-participating (non-profit) annuity business

Non-participating annuity instalments and future 
expenses in respect of these instalments are 
discounted at market interest rates based on the 
bond yield curve at the valuation date, reduced by 
the prescribed and additional margin, as well as 
investment management expenses. All profits or 
losses accrue to the member when incurred.

Annuities are paid to members in the form of 
monthly pensions, which are accounted for on the 
accrual basis.

1.4 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular 
way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 
Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Fund measures a 
financial asset or financial liability at its fair value 
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or 
financial liability not at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of the financial asset or financial liability, such 
as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of 
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at 
fair value through profit or loss are expensed in 
statement of changes in net assets available for 
benefits. When the fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities differs from the transaction price 
on initial recognition, the Fund recognises the 
difference as follows:

(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted 
price in an active market for an identical asset 
or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a 
valuation technique that uses only data from 
observable markets, the difference is recognised 
as a gain or loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred 
and the timing of recognition of deferred day 
one profit or loss is determined individually. It is 
either amortised over the life of the instrument, 
deferred until the instrument’s fair value can 
be determined using market observable inputs, 
or realised through settlement.

MEASUREMENT METHODS

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the 
financial asset or financial liability is measured at 
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using 

Accounting Policies   Continued...
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the effective interest method of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any 
loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset or financial liability to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised 
cost before any impairment allowance) or to 
the amortised cost of a financial liability. The 
calculation does not consider expected credit 
losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or 
discounts and fees and points paid or received that 
are integral to the effective interest rate, such as 
origination fees.

When the Fund revises the estimates of future 
cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective 
financial assets or financial liability is adjusted 
to reflect the new estimate discounted using the 
original effective interest rate. Any changes are 
recognised in the statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

From 1 April 2018, the Fund has applied IFRS 9 
and classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
- Amortised cost

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent 
to their initial recognition unless the Fund 
changes its business model for managing 

financial assets, in which case all affected 
financial assets are reclassified on the first 
day of the first reporting period following the 
change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if 
it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cashflows; and

- its contractual terms give rise to specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amounts 
outstanding.

The classification requirements for equity 
instruments are described below:

DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Debt instruments are those instruments that 
meet the definition of a financial liability from the 
issuer’s perspective, such as loans, government and 
corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased 
from clients in factoring arrangements without 
recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
debt instruments depend on:

• the Fund’s business model for managing the 
asset; and

• the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Fund classifies its 
debt instruments into one of the following two 
measurement categories:

Accounting Policies   Continued...
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AMORTISED COST:

Assets that are held for collection of contractual 
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and 
that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets 
is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance 
recognised and measured using the simplified 
expected loss model. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar 
income’ using the effective interest rate method.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS:

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised 
cost are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. Interest income from these financial assets 
is included in ‘Interest income’.

BUSINESS MODEL ASSESSMENT:

The business model reflects how the Fund manages 
the assets in order to generate cash flows. That 
is, whether the Fund’s objective is solely to collect 
the contractual cash flows from the assets or is 
to collect both the contractual cash flows and 
cashflows arising from the sale of assets. If neither 
of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held 
for trading purposes), then the financial assets 
are classified as part of ‘other’ business model 
and measured at FVPTL. Factors considered by 
the Fund in determining the business model for 
a group of assets include past experience on how 
the cash flows for these assets were collected, 
how the asset’s performance is evaluated and 
reported to key management personnel, how risks 
are assessed and managed and how managers are 
compensated. For example, the liquidity portfolio 
of assets, which is held by the Fund as part of 
liquidity management and is generally classified 

within the hold to collect and sell business model. 
Securities held for trading are held principally for 
the purpose of selling in the near term or are part 
of a portfolio of financial instruments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence 
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. These securities are classified in the ‘other’ 
business model and measured at FVTPL.

SOLELY PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST 
(SPPI):

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows or to collect contractual 
cash flows and sell, the Fund assesses whether 
the financial instruments’ cash flows represent the 
‘SPPI test’. In making this assessment, the Fund 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. 
interest includes only consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks 
and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic 
lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms 
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the 
related financial asset is classified and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

The Fund reclassifies debt investments when and 
only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. There classification takes place 
from the start of the first reporting period following 
the change. Such changes are expected to be very 
infrequent and none occurred during the period.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets 
at FVTPL such as equity investments are measured 
at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Accounting Policies   Continued...
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Financial assets at amortised cost such as cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivables due from 
participating employers and other third parties are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. The amortised cost 
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the 
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; 
that is, instruments that do not contain a 
contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a 
residual interest in the issuer’s net assets.

The Fund measures all equity investments at fair 
value through profit or loss. The Fund does not 
designate equity investments as fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) irrespective of 
the investment horizon. Gains and losses on equity 
investments at FVTPL are included in the statement 
of changes in net assets available for benefits. 
Dividend income is recognised upon declaration.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits 
with banks and highly liquid financial assets with 
maturities of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in their fair value and are used 
by the Fund in the management of short-term 
commitments, other than collateral provided in 
respect of derivatives and securities borrowing 
transactions. Cash and cash equivalents are 
measured at amortised cost.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Fund recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at amortised cost 
such accounts receivables. The amount of expected 
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition 
of the respective financial instrument.

The Fund always recognises lifetime ECL for 
accounts receivables. The expected credit losses 
on these financial assets are estimated using 
simplified ECL model based on the provision matrix. 
The ECL model takes into account Fund’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current 
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at 
the reporting date. Lifetime ECL represents the 
expected credit losses that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Fund 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Fund recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in statement 
of changes in net assets available for benefits.

Accounting Policies   Continued...



BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | 58

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a 
shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial 
liability.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and 
only when, the Fund’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in statement of changes in 
net assets available for benefits.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND MEASUREMENTS

The Fund classifies assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects whether observable or unobservable inputs 
are used in determining the fair value of the item. 
If this information is not available, fair value is 
measured using another valuation technique 
that maximises the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimises the use of unobservable 
inputs. The valuation techniques employed by 
the Fund include, inter alia, quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in an active market, 
quoted prices for the same asset or liability in an 
inactive market, adjusted prices from recent arm’s 

length transactions, option-pricing models, and 
discounted cash flow techniques.

Where a valuation model is applied and the Fund 
cannot mark-to-market, it applies a mark-to-model 
approach, subject to prudent valuation adjustments. 
Mark-to-model is defined as any valuation which 
has to be benchmarked, extrapolated or otherwise 
calculated from a market input. When applying 
mark-to-model, an extra degree of conservatism 
is applied.

The Fund will consider the following in assessing 
whether a mark-to-model valuation is prudent:

• As far as possible, market inputs are sourced 
in line with market prices;

• Generally accepted valuation methodologies 
are consistently used for particular products 
unless deemed inappropriate by the relevant 
governance forums;

• Where a model has been developed in-house, 
it is based on appropriate assumptions, 
which have been assessed and challenged by 
suitably qualified parties independent of the 
development process;

• Formal change control procedures are in place;

• Awareness of the weaknesses of the models 
used and appropriate reflection in the 
valuation output where relevant;

• The model is subject to periodic review to 
determine the accuracy of its performance; 
and

• Valuation adjustments are only made when 
appropriate, for example, to cover the 
uncertainty of the model valuation.
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Valuation techniques and assumptions applied 
for the purpose of measuring fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are determined as follows:

The fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and 
traded on active liquid markets are determined 
with reference to quoted market prices (includes 
listed equities and bonds).

The fair values of other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on 
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from 
observable current market transactions and dealer 
quotes for similar instruments.

VALUATIONS BASED ON OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS INCLUDE:

Level 1 Fair value is determined using unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities where this is readily available and the 
price represents actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions. An active market is one in 
which transactions occur with sufficient volume 
and frequency to provide pricing information on an 
on-going basis.

Level 2 Fair value is determined using inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly such as 
quoted prices for similar items in an active market 
or for an identical item in an inactive market, or 
valuation models using observable inputs or inputs 
derived from observable market data.

Level 3 Fair value is determined using a valuation 
technique and significant inputs that are not 

based on observable market data(i.e. unobservable 
inputs) such as an entity’s own assumptions about 
what market participants would assume in pricing 
assets and liabilities.

1.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated 
in Pula at the exchange rate at the dates of the 
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated to Pula at 
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated into Pula at the 
exchange rate at the date on which the fair value 
was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising from 
retranslation are recognised as a component of net 
gain/loss from financial instruments in the Fund’s 
statement of changes in net assets available for 
benefits.

1.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Fund, and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which 
is directly attributable to the acquisition or 
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construction of the asset.
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or 
replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised 
if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
expenditure will flow to the Fund and the cost can be measured 
reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in statement of 
changes in net assets available for benefits in the year in which they 
are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for 
use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write 
off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its 
estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern 
in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the Fund. 
Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter 
of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not 
charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal 
to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier 
of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been 
assessed as follows:

ITEM DEPRECIATION 
METHOD

AVERAGE 
USEFUL LIFE

Furniture and fixtures Straight line 20%

Motor vehicles Straight line 25%

Office equipment Straight line 20%

IT equipment Straight line 33%

Computer software Straight line 33%

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ 
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as 
a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that 
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated 
separately.

The depreciation charge for 
each year is recognised in profit 
or loss unless it is included in 
the carrying amount of another 
asset.

Impairment tests are performed 
on property, plant and equipment 
when there is an indicator that 
they may be impaired. When the 
carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is 
assessed to be higher than the 
estimated recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss to 
bring the carrying amount in line 
with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are 
expected from its continued use 
or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition 
of an item of property, plant 
and equipment, determined as 
the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds, if any, and 
the carrying amount of the item, 
is included in profit or loss when 
the item is derecognised.

1.7 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Receivables are amounts due 
from participating employers 
and other third parties. They are 
initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment.
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1.8 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment properties are land and/or buildings 
which are owned or held under a leasehold 
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation, and for which, the Fund does not 
occupy a significant portion. Property that is 
being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment property is classified as investment 
property. Investment properties are initially 
measured at cost and subsequently at fair value 
with any change therein recognised in the statement 
of changes in net assets available for benefits.

These valuations are performed in accordance with 
the guidance issued by the International Valuation 
Standards Committee and are prepared or reviewed 
periodically by independent external valuers.

The fair value of investment properties reflects, 
among other things, rental income from current 
leases and assumptions about rental income 
from future leases in the light of current market 
conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar 
basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in 
respect of the properties. Any gain or loss arising 
from a change in fair value or from the retirement 
or disposal of an investment property is recognised 
in the statement of changes in net assets available 
for benefits.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance costs are expensed during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. 
When the Fund holds a property interest under 
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or 
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified 
and accounted for as an investment property on 
a property-by-property basis. Any such property 

interest which has been classified as an investment 
property is accounted for as if it were held under 
a finance lease and the same accounting policies 
are applied to that interest as are applied to other 
investment properties leased under finance leases.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, 
it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment 
and its fair value at the date of reclassification 
becomes its carrying value for accounting purposes. 
Investment property that is being redeveloped 
for continued future use as investment property, 
continues to be measured at fair value and is 
not reclassified as property, plant and equipment 
during the redevelopment.

1.9 CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions from both the employer and the 
employee are accounted for when received by the 
Fund. Members’ statutory contributions consist of 
5% of the members’ pensionable salary. Employer 
contributions consists of 15% of the pensionable 
salary of the Fund’s members. Members are also 
allowed to make voluntary contributions to the 
Fund.

1.10 TRANSFERS

TRANSFERS IN - OTHER FUNDS

Transfers in from other funds relate to new 
members joining the Fund on attainment of 
employment with the Government of Botswana. 
These are recognised when the transfer values 
have been certified by the actuaries and agreed by 
the respective employer agencies.
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TRANSFERS IN - GOVERNMENT OF BOTSWANA

Government transfers are recognised when the 
Fund has accepted liability of the new members 
being transferred from other Government pension 
plans. Liability is accepted when the actuarial 
valuation of the transfer amount is carried out and 
the amount has been agreed upon between the 
Government of Botswana and the Fund.

1.11 INTEREST

Interest income is recognised in surplus for the year, 
using the effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument (or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount 
of the financial instrument on initial recognition. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
Fund estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but 
not future credit losses.

1.12 DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised in surplus for the year 
on the date on which the right to receive payment 
is established. For quoted equity securities, this is 
usually the ex-dividend date. For unquoted equity 
securities, this is usually the date on which the 
shareholders approve the payment of a dividend.

1.13 RENTAL INCOME

Rental income from investment property is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives granted are recognised as 
an integral part of the total rental income, over the 
term of the lease.

1.14 NET FAIR VALUE GAIN/LOSS FROM FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Net fair value gain or loss from financial instruments 
is calculated using the average cost method and 
includes all realised and unrealised fair value 
changes and foreign exchange differences, but 
excludes interest and dividend income.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and 
classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any amounts 
received from the issue of shares in excess of par 
value is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. 
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the Fund 
in which they are declared.

1.15 LEASES - 2020

The Fund assesses whether a contract is, or 
contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains 
a lease, management determine whether the asset 
under consideration is “identified”, which means 
that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly 
specified in the contract and that the supplier 
does not have a substantial right of substitution 
throughout the period of use. Once management 
has concluded that the contract deals with an 
identified asset, the right to control the use thereof 
is considered. To this end, control over the use 
of an identified asset only exists when the Fund 
has the right to substantially all of the economic 
benefits from the use of the asset as well as the  
right to direct the use of the asset.
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In circumstances where the determination of 
whether the contract is or contains a lease requires 
significant judgement, the relevant disclosures 
are provided in the significant judgments and 
sources of estimation uncertainty section of these 
accounting policies.

FUND AS LESSEE

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use 
asset are recognised at the lease commencement 
date, for all lease agreements for which the Fund is 
a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months 
or less, or leases of low value assets. For these 
leases, the Fund recognises the lease payments as 
an operating expense (note 9 ) on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.

The various lease and non-lease components 
of contracts containing leases are accounted for 
separately, with consideration being allocated to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative 
stand-alone prices of the lease components and 
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 
components (where non-lease components exist).

However as an exception to the preceding 
paragraph, the Fund has elected not to separate 
the non-lease components for leases of land and 
buildings.

Details of leasing arrangements where the Fund is 
a lessee are presented in note 12 Leases (Fund as 
lessee).

LEASE LIABILITY

The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the lease payments that are not 

paid at the commencement date, discounted by 
using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Fund uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of 
the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed lease payments, including in-substance 
fixed payments, less any lease incentives;

• variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate at the commencement date;

• the amount expected to be payable by the 
Fund under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of purchase options, if the 
Fund is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option;

• lease payments in an optional renewal period 
if the Fund is reasonably certain to exercise 
an extension option; and

• penalties for early termination of a lease, 
if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 
option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or 
rate are not included in the measurement of the 
lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The related 
payments are recognised as an expense in the 
period incurred and are included in operating 
expenses (note 12).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line 
item on the statement of assets available for 
benefits.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by 
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest 
on the lease liability (using the effective interest 
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to 
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reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on 
the lease liability is included in finance costs (note 
12).

The Fund remeasures the lease liability (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) when:

• there has been a change to the lease term, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change in the assessment 
of whether the Fund will exercise a purchase, 
termination or extension option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change to the lease payments 
due to a change in an index or a rate, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured 
by discounting the revised lease payments 
using the initial discount rate (unless the 
lease payments change is due to a change in a 
floating interest rate, in which case a revised 
discount rate is used);

• there has been a change in expected payment 
under a residual value guarantee, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using 
the initial discount rate;

• a lease contract has been modified and the 
lease modification is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised 
payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of- use asset, or is recognised 
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate 
line item on the statement of assets available for 
benefits.

Lease payments included in the measurement of 
the lease liability comprise the following:

• the initial amount of the corresponding lease 
liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date; 

• any initial direct costs incurred;

• any estimated costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, when the Fund incurs an obligation 
to do so, unless these costs are incurred to 
produce inventories; and

• less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the 
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost 
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Fund 
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related 
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at 
the commencement date of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over 
their useful lives, the useful lives are determined 
consistently with items of the same class of property, 
plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting 
policy for property, plant and equipment for details 
of useful lives.
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The residual value, useful life and depreciation 
method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting year. If the expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change is accounted for 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 
Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the asset 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised 
in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

FUND AS LESSOR

Leases for which the Fund is a lessor are classified 
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is 
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. Lease classification 
is made at inception and is only reassessed if there 
is a lease modification.

When the Fund is an intermediate lessor, it 
accounts for the head lease and the sublease as 
two separate contracts. The sublease is classified 
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If 
the head lease is a short-term lease to which the 
Fund applies the exemption described previously, 
then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating 
lease.

The various lease and non-lease components 
of contracts containing leases are accounted for 
separately, with consideration being allocated by 
applying IFRS 15.

OPERATING LEASES

Lease payments from operating leases are 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease, or on another systematic 

basis if that basis is more representative of the 
pattern in which the benefits form the use of the 
underlying asset are diminished.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and are 
expensed over the lease term on the same basis as 
the lease income.

Modifications made to operating leases are 
accounted for as a new lease from the effective 
date of the modification. Any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments relating to the original lease are 
treated as part of the lease payments of the new 
lease.

1.16 LEASES (COMPARATIVES 
UNDER IAS 17 - 2019)

The following accounting policy applies to the 
comparative disclosures of leases. The Fund has 
adopted IFRS 16 in the current year, but has 
not restated the comparatives. These accounting 
policies are prepared on the basis of IAS 17. Refer 
to the note on changes in accounting policies for 
details of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on 
these financial statements.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating 
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

OPERATING LEASES - LESSOR

Operating lease income is recognised as an income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an 
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expense over the lease term on the same basis as 
the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in 
profit or loss.

OPERATING LEASES – LESSEE

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised 
as an expense and the contractual payments 
are recognised as an operating lease asset. This 
liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period 
they are incurred.

1.17 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, 
JUDGEMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS

In preparing the financial statements, management 
has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

Information about assumptions and estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting 
in a material adjustment in the year ended 31 
March 2020 is included in Note 13 and relates 
to the determination of fair values of financial 
instruments with significant unobservable inputs.

The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are outlined below:

(A) BASIS FOR DETERMINING FAIR VALUES OF 
INVESTMENTS

The determination of fair values for assets which 
are not listed on public markets is performed 
annually. These assets include direct property 
holdings, interest in private equity funds and direct 
investments in unlisted entities. Some of these 
investments may have been acquired through 
public markets but have de-listed and are now 
privately held.

This exercise is done on an annual basis through 
third parties such as accounting firms, corporate 
finance firms and specialist firms such as property 
specialists. Where possible, in-house resources 
may be deployed for such tasks.

The methodology employed includes standard 
valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow 
(an income approach to valuation) and market 
approaches. The commonest discounted cash flow 
valuation techniques applied in these valuations 
are the Dividend Discount Model (DDM) and the 
Free Cash Flow to Equity Model (FCFE). Other 
valuation techniques include Market Multiples, Net 
Assets Valuation, Inverse Multiple and Dividend 
Yield Model.

The market approaches to valuation are either 
trading multiples or transaction multiples. Trading 
multiples relate to the multiples at which the 
assets could trade on markets as deduced from 
comparable listed asset trading multiples. For 
transaction multiples value is determined by 
comparing the subject asset to comparable assets, 
if any have been purchased,sold or merged in the 
recent past.

In private equity funds, the BPOPF accepts 
valuations from these funds and where it is not 
satisfied it uses provisions in the agreements such 
as Limited Partner Advisory Committees to call for 
independent valuations.
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(B) PRINCIPAL ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

Another significant area relates to the measurement 
of member benefit obligations including key 
actuarial assumptions applied by Management’s 
actuarial specialists in arriving at member Fund 
credits. Key actuarial assumptions for ‘with profit’ 
pensioner liability valuation are as follows:

PENSIONER MORTALITY RATES 2020* 2019*

Inflation 2.80 % 2.72 %

Pension increase 2.30 % 2.17 %

*Post retirement mortality assumptions follow that 
of PA(90) mortality table with adjustments of -1 
for both males and females to allow for mortality 
improvements.

(C) MEASUREMENT OF THE EXPECTED CREDIT 
LOSS ALLOWANCE

The measurement of the expected credit loss 
allowance for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost is an area that requires the use of 
complex models and significant assumptions about 
future economic conditions and credit behaviour 
(e.g.the likelihood of tenants and members 
defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also 
required in applying the accounting requirements 
for measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL), such as:

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions 
for the measurement of Expected Credit Loss;

• Establishing groups of similar financial assets 
for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit 
Loss.

(D) LEASES

Due to the changes in accounting policies resulting 
from the application of IFRS 16, following critical 
judgements relating to leases are made starting as 
from the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (1 
April 2019):

In determining the lease term, management 
considers all facts and circumstances that create 
an economic incentive to exercise an extension or 
termination option. The assessment is reviewed 
if a significant event or a significant change 
in circumstances occurs which affects this 
assessment. During the current financial year, there 
was no material financial effect of revising lease 
terms to reflect the effect of exercising extension 
or termination options.

(E) VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Determining the fair value of investment properties 
requires an estimation of the value in use of 
the properties. The value in use is calculated by 
professional valuers who estimate the future 
cash flows in form of rental income expected to 
arise from renting out the property and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The 
Trustees utilise independent valuers to minimise 
the level of estimation uncertainty.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN THE CURRENT 
YEAR

In the current year, the Fund has adopted the following 
standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the current financial year and that are relevant to its 
operations:

AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 11 JOINT 
ARRANGEMENTS: ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO 
IFRS 2015 - 2017 CYCLE

The amendment clarifies that if a party participates 
in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation 
and subsequently obtains joint control of the joint 
operation (which constitutes a business as defined in 
IFRS 3) that, in such cases, previously held interests 
in the joint operation are not remeasured.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 12 INCOME TAXES: 
ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS 2015 - 2017 
CYCLE

The amendment specifies that the income tax 
consequences on dividends are recognised in profit or 
loss, other  comprehensive income or equity according 
to where the entity originally recognised the events 
or transactions which generated the distributable 
reserves.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 23 BORROWING COSTS: 
ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS 2015 - 2017 
CYCLE

The amendment specifies that when determining 
the weighted average borrowing rate for purposes of 
capitalising borrowing costs, the calculation excludes 
borrowings which have been made specifically for 
the purposes of obtaining a qualifying asset, but 
only until substantially all the activities necessary to 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are 
complete.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

IFRIC 23 UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX 
TREATMENTS

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the 
recognition and measurement requirements in 
IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax 
treatments. Specifically, if it is probable that the tax 
authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, 
then all tax related items are measured according 
to the planned tax treatment. If it is not probable 
that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax 
treatment, then the tax related items are measured 
on the basis of probabilities to reflect the uncertainty.

Changes in facts and circumstances are required 
to be treated as changes in estimates and applied 
prospectively. The effective date of the interpretation 
is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.
The interpretation has no impact on the financial 
statements of the Fund.

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 
17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting 
model. The main changes arising from the issue of 
IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the Fund are as 
follows:
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Fund as lessee:

• Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except 
short term leases or leases where the underlying 
asset has a low value, which are expensed on a 
straight line or other systematic basis.

• The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, 
where appropriate, the initial amount of the 
lease liability; lease payments made prior to 
commencement of the lease less incentives 
received; initial direct costs of the lessee; and 
an estimate for any provision for dismantling, 
restoration and removal related to the underlying 
asset.

• The lease liability takes into consideration, where 
appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments; 
residual value guarantees to be made by the 
lessee; exercise price of purchase options; and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease.

• The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured 
on the cost model at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment and adjusted 
for any re-measurement of the lease liability. 
However, right-of-use assets are measured at 
fair value when they meet the definition of 
investment property and all other investment 
property is accounted for on the fair value 
model. If a right-of-use asset relates to a class 
of property, plant and equipment which is 
measured on the revaluation model, then that 
right-of-use asset may be measured on the 
revaluation model.

• The lease liability is subsequently increased by 
interest, reduced by lease payments and re-
measured for reassessments or modifications.

• Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected 
against right-of-use assets, unless the assets 
have been reduced to nil, in which case further 
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.

• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised payments at a revised rate when there 
is a change in the lease term or a change in 

the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised lease payments at the original discount 
rate when there is a change in the amounts 
expected to be paid in a residual value guarantee 
or when there is a change in future payments 
because of a change in index or rate used to 
determine those payments.

• Certain lease modifications are accounted for 
as separate leases. When lease modifications 
which decrease the scope of the lease are 
not required to be accounted for as separate 
leases, then the lessee re-measures the lease 
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of 
the right of lease asset to reflect the full or 
partial termination of the lease. Any gain or loss 
relating to the full or partial termination of the 
lease is recognised in profit or loss. For all  other 
lease modifications which are not required to 
be accounted for as separate leases, the lessee 
re-measures the lease liability by making a 
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use 
asset.

• Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should 
be presented separately from other assets and 
liabilities. If not, then the line item in which 
they are included must be disclosed. This does 
not apply to right-of-use assets meeting the 
definition of investment property which must 
be presented within investment property. IFRS 
16 contains different disclosure requirements 
compared to IAS 17 leases.

FUND AS LESSOR:

• Accounting for leases by lessors remains 
similar to the provisions of IAS 17 in that 
leases are classified as either finance leases 
or operating leases. Lease classification 
is reassessed only if there has been a 
modification.

• A modification is required to be accounted 
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for as a separate lease if 
it both increases the scope 
of the lease by adding the 
right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and the 
increase in consideration is 
commensurate to the stand 
alone price of the increase in 
scope.

• If a finance lease is modified, 
and the modification would 
not qualify as a separate 
lease, but the lease would 
have been an operating lease 
if the modification was in 
effect from inception, then 
the modification is accounted 
for as a separate lease. 
In addition, the carrying 
amount of the underlying 
asset shall be measured 
as the net investment 
in the lease immediately 
before the effective date 
of the modification. IFRS 
9 is applied to all other 
modifications not required 
to be treated as a separate 
lease.

• Modifications to operating 
leases are required to be 
accounted for as new leases 
from the effective date of 
the modification. Changes 
have also been made to 
the disclosure requirements 
of leases in the lessor’s 
financial statements.

SALE AND LEASEBACK 
TRANSACTIONS:

In the event of a sale and leaseback 
transaction, the requirements of 
IFRS 15 are applied to consider 
whether a performance obligation 
is satisfied to determine whether 
the transfer of the asset is 
accounted for as the sale of an 
asset.

2020 2019

BPOPF Offshore Investments - (10,290,133)

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd (11,328,327) (58,610,759)

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) 
Ltd

355,948,483 77,705,738

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd 32,492,049 (36,686,790)

Moravia 1,039,698 -

Transition account 2,143,431 -

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 4,409,799 (10,641,319)

Harding Loevner 297,577,234 83,984,834

Sarasin & Partners LLP (3,021,756) (18,966,230)

  679,260,611 26,495,341

4. PROFIT/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS

• If the transfer meets the requirements to be recognised as a sale, 
the seller-lessee must measure the new right-of- use asset at the 
proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to 
the right-of-use retained. The buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase 
by applying applicable standards and for the lease by applying IFRS 16

• If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not equal to the fair 
value of the asset, then IFRS 16 requires adjustments to be made 
to the sale proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, 
then the seller-lessee continues to recognise the transferred asset 
and recognises a financial liability equal to the transfer proceeds. The 
buyer-lessor recognises a financial asset equal to the transfer proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 
January 2019. The Fund has adopted the standard for the first time in the 
2020 financial statements.

The adoption of this standard has had a material impact on the Fund and 
has resulted in introducing new line items on the face of the statement of 
assets available for benefits, as well as increased disclosure. Refer to note 
12.

3. CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions received comprise of employer’s (Government of Botswana) 
contributions at 15% of pensionable salary, members’ contributions 
at 5% of pensionable salary and additional voluntary contributions 
by members. Transfers in comprise of individual transfers from other 
Pension Funds.

Contributions - unallocated relates to contributions received from various 
paypoints with insufficient information to match against the type of 
contribution received at year end.
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Morgan Stanley   - 515,252

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd  202,203,272 211,790,424

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd  63,425,649 60,505,886

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  183,163,843 176,680,680

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 165,191,320 165,798,642

Interest on call 110,561,685 116,984,866

BPOPF Offshore Investments  59,650 129,534

Messidor  14,276,031 9,176,070

Harding Loevner 1,043,037 1,711,144

Sarasin & Partners LLP 387,871 (714,499)

Moravia 145,283 192,640

Messidor - Hilton Project Operational call account 14,985 3,108,528

740,472,626 745,879,167

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd   85,273,286 85,166,883

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd  157,325,824 177,326,236

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  226,518,825 194,177,476

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd  209,363,013 238,465,256

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 105,705,078 116,474,596

Epoch Investment Partners Inc. 42,125,361 42,235,779

Sarasin & Partners LLP  40,532,239 32,153,647

Harding Loevner  60,590,963 68,496,289

Morgan Stanley 71,559 -

927,506,148 954,496,162

Unrealised foreign exchange gain   263,611,453 278,118,438

Realised gains/(losses)  11,372,005 7,574,469

Sundry income  447,796 178,130

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (50,300) (11,259)

275,380,954 285,859,778

Figures in Pula  2020 2019

5. INTEREST INCOME

6. DIVIDEND INCOME

7. OTHER INCOME/(LOSSES)
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Morgan Stanley   1,396,130 9,035,823

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd  (232,109,098) (310,751,075)

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd (1,488,798,215) 978,402,125

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (394,355,950) (361,978,373)

African Alliance Botswana Ltd (313,767,981) (350,818,000)

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd (200,000,000) 82,500,000

BPOPF Offshore Limited (331,933,614) 2,230,506,662

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited 13,217,279 (10,604,821)

Sarasin & Partners LLP (277,961,628) 257,648,827

Harding Loevner 81,883,760 744,213,147

BOP Investment (61,671,923) 379,500,392

Transition account  - 470,534

Moravia  29,540,971 (11,377,958)

Vantage 8,733,131 -

Messidor - Hilton 28,625 (128,200,000)

PUMA - Energy Botswana (Pty) Ltd  (42,000,000) 47,500,000

Messidor  (94,391,000) (57,833,163)

Feune 26,440,749 (47,479,170)

Letsema (Pty) Ltd 38,000,000 -

Viltry (Pty) Ltd (300,000) -

(3,238,048,764) 3,450,734,950

Figures in Pula  2020 2019

8. UNREALISED NET FAIR VALUE (LOSS)/GAIN  
    FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Figures in Pula  2020 2019

The total net unrealised gain/(loss) from investments classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss, for the year arise from investments in the following:

Local direct investments 
Listed equity (792,451,879) (843,484,990)

Bonds 26,011,199 (14,337,930)

Private equity (239,502,548) 509,500,392

Investment property  (94,391,000) (233,512,333)

  (1,100,334,228) (581,834,861)

Off shore direct investments
Listed equity (1,369,132,395) 1,737,907,912

Fixed income securities  (188,227,869) (182,586,165)

Cash and near cash instruments  - 470,534

(1,557,360,264) 1,555,792,281

Unitised funds
Offshore (580,354,272) 2,476,777,530

(3,238,048,764) 3,450,734,950

9. INVESTMENT AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Investment management fees     

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd  27,324,817 27,801,233

Investec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd 82,037,251 86,459,629

Allan Gray (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd 44,132,784 42,903,052

Stanbic Investment Management Services (Pty) Ltd - 28,876,895

African Alliance Botswana Ltd 20,353,269 24,572,138

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - 576,905

Africa Lighthouse Capital 14,683,973 5,461,918

Aleyo Capital 11,900,557 6,604,348

Moravia 8,848,380 6,454,127

Messidor - Hilton Hospitality 162,602 4,493,610

Messidor  16,158,364 13,639,742

Harding Loevner  29,727,603 21,539,767

Messidor - Hilton Development Project 6,519,394 6,469,359

261,848,994 275,852,723
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Other investment management expenses:
Asset custody and other fees 72,113,739 69,998,388

72,113,739 69,998,388

Operating expenses
Advertising  2,248,932 1,549,201

Beverages and refreshments 237,667 333,514

Bad Debts - 3,334,882

Computer expenses 5,489,044 4,888,620

Property, plant and equipment 11,795,731 1,285,532

Insurance 1,427,533 954,247

Motor vehicle expenses 561,723 544,404

Employee costs 57,639,155 64,912,789

Sundry expenses 3,455,318 4,603,116

Consultancy fee 7,708,347 5,875,626

Telephone and fax  1,957,537 2,477,290

Travel and entertainment 3,718,373 3,721,264

Trustees' remuneration 1,063,650 599,950

Trustees' expenses 3,205,554 2,393,722

Workshop expenses 325,026 374,837

Water and electricity 739,485 520,891

Regulators' (NBFIRA) fees 2,486,319 2,655,808

Fines and penalties 100,000 -

Bank charges 418,074 474,998

Printing, postage and stationery  1,305,448 4,622,527

Legal expenses 8,180,818 10,487,277

Asset consultancy fees 3,176,028 3,080,698

Audit fees  1,989,145 2,057,050

Actuarial fees  891,133 950,597

Benefits administration fees 11,332,097 13,201,262

131,452,137 135,900,102

Total investment and other operating expenses 465,414,870 481,751,213

Figures in Pula  2020 2019
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Figures in Pula  2020 2019

10. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Net increase in net assets during the year  324,191,715 6,040,094,610

Adjustments for:
Investment management: Non-cash adjustments

  

Unrealised fair value loss 3,238,048,764 (3,450,734,950)

Impairment loss on investment rental receivables 4,322,635 -

Unrealised foreign currency gains/(losses) (263,611,453) (278,118,438)

 2,978,759,946 (3,728,853,388)

Investment Management: Reclassification to investment activities
Investment management fees  261,848,994 275,852,723

Other investment management expenses 72,113,739 69,998,388

Realised foreign exchange currency gain/(loss) (11,372,005) (7,574,469)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of investments (679,260,611) (26,495,341)

Dividends income (927,506,148) (954,496,162)

Interest income (740,472,626) (745,879,167)

Rental income (68,487,526) (43,411,287)

 (2,093,136,183) (1,432,005,315)

Fund operations: Non-cash adjustments
Deferred lease adjustment (280,052) (240,772)

Other non-cash items 4,808,025 2,870,441

(Loss)/Profit on disposal of Property plant & equipment 50,300 11,259

Unrealised actuarial (gain)/loss 60,403,600 500,517,475

Depreciation on property plant and equipment 11,795,731 1,285,532

Lumpsums accrued on withdrawal 41,685,095 54,606,460

Lumpsums accrued on retirement 1,286,012,950 504,164,272

Lumpsums accrued on death 173,894,444 294,725,830

Monthly pensions (annuities) 619,536,099 573,986,956

Increase/(decrease) in unclaimed benefits 151,009,324 -

  2,348,915,516 1,931,927,453

Fund operations: Reclassification adjustments to finance activities
Finance costs 860,051 -
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Figures in Pula  2020 2019

Fund operation: Changes in working capital   

Increase/(decrease) in accounts receivables (1,222,636) 2,916,396

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 11,077,243 21,182,146

 10,714,658 24,098,542

Fund operations: Benefits paid
Monthly pensions paid (annuities paid)  (619,536,099) (573,986,956)

Lumpsums paid on death (273,556,032) (230,340,292)

Lumpsums paid on withdrawal (99,706,644) (37,402,726)

Lumpsums paid on retirement (1,020,315,976) (1,047,568,096)

 (2,013,114,751) (1,889,298,070)

1,556,330,901 945,963,832

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or 
evaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Used within the fund
Furniture and fixtures 35,986,133 (9,318,246) 26,667,887 15,331,550 (5,680,340) 9,651,210

Motor vehicles 6,897,097 (3,293,924) 3,603,173 5,815,000 (4,957,399) 857,601

Office equipment 5,555,746 (2,928,829) 2,626,917 5,909,199 (2,354,272) 3,554,927

IT equipment 7,314,390 (3,983,741) 3,330,649 7,074,144 (2,580,792) 4,493,352

Computer software 6,689,602 (4,401,135) 2,288,467 6,596,083 (3,285,469) 3,310,614

Total 62,442,968 (23,925,875) 38,517,093 40,725,976 (18,858,272) 21,867,704

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2020 

Opening 
balance

Additions  Disposals Depreciation Total

Used within the fund
Furniture and fixtures 9,651,210 22,594,732 (212,225) (5,365,830) 26,667,887

Motor vehicles 857,601 3,450,573 (301,223) (403,778) 3,603,173

Office equipment 3,554,927 55,547 (134,206) (849,351) 2,626,917

IT equipment 4,493,352 308,205 (6,796) (1,464,112) 3,330,649

Computer software 3,310,614 234,262 (45,387) (1,211,022) 2,288,467

  21,867,704 26,643,319 (699,837) (9,294,093) 38,517,093

20192020

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions  Disposals Depreciation Total

 
Furniture and fixtures 2,391,411 9,110,910 - (1,851,111) 9,651,210

Motor vehicles 1,634,062 - - (776,461) 857,601

Office equipment 1,248,930 2,645,404 (580) (338,827) 3,554,927

IT equipment 1,965,615 544,284 (16,789) 2,000,242 4,493,352

Computer software 1,437,667 2,245,693 (53,371) (319,375) 3,310,614

  8,677,685 14,546,291 (70,740) (1,285,532) 21,867,704

12. LEASES (FUND AS LESSEE)

INTRODUCTION

As at 1 April 2019, BPOPF held four (4) property lease contracts with third parties in its capacity as the 
lessee. In addition, the Fund also held a single lease contract for several photocopiers.

The Fund adopted IFRS 16 Lease on 1 April 2019.

TRANSITIONAL APPROACH

The management of Fund has elected to apply one of the alternative modified retrospective approaches 
permitted by IFRS 16 on the basis of undue cost or effort. The selected transitional approach is detailed 
below. The initial lease liability and Right of Use Assets are recognised as follows:

The lease liability is net present value of the remaining (i.e. future) lease payments using the incremental 
borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

The right-of-use (RoU) asset is recognized at the date of initial application as an amount equal to the lease 
liability, using the prevailing incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

Adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease that were recognised in the 
statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application.

The following practical expediences (PE) that are relevant to the above transitional approach have been 
selected and applied accordingly.

• PE#1: Apply the old definition of lease in line with IAS 17/IFRIC to existing leases on transition date. 
Only apply the new definition of a lease in IFRS 16 to new leases post transition.
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• PE#2: Apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

• PE#3: Use onerous lease assessment and any provision recognised immediately before date of 
application instead of an IAS 36 impairment test.

• PE#4: No requirement to recognise leases when the term ends within 12 months of the date of initial 
application.

LEASE TERM

In determining the lease term, management considered the non-cancellable period, extension options and 
terminations clauses embedded in the lease contracts.

RECOGNITION EXEMPTION

Management has also concluded that the lease of photocopiers constitutes a low value lease as the price 
of the underlying photocopiers do not amount to more than P60,000 (equivalent to 5,000 USD) when new 
on an individual basis. Management has therefore elected to apply the recognition exemption clause of 
IFRS 16 paragraph 5(b). Management has also applied the recognition exemption to the lease contract 
relating to Lot 467/8 Francistown whose lease term was assessed to less than 12 months. The contract 
was expiring on 30 June 2019.

DISCOUNT RATE

The Fund is able to borrow money at prime at a prime rate of 6.5% to Fund properties acquisition of a 
similar nature for the period of the lease and consequently 6.5% has been applied as the incremental 
borrowing rate for the all the leases. 6.5% was the prime rate at 1 April 2019 being the adoption date.

RIGHT OF USE ASSET

All right of Use Asset shall subsequently be measured using the cost model of IAS 16 Property, Plant & 
Equipment.

IFRS 16 
Transitional

opening balance

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

 Closing bal-
ance

Reconciliation of right-of-use assets - 
2020
Plot 70667 Gaborone 5,124,479 (1,618,256) 3,506,223
Plot 5435 Jwaneng 3,537,753 (382,460) 3,155,293

Plot 714 Maun 4,550,038 (500,922) 4,049,116
  13,212,270 (2,501,638) 10,710,632

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...



| BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 79

LEASE LIABILITY

The liability resulting from the lease contracts shall be accounted for as a financial liability in line with 
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments – Recognition & Measurement

OTHER DISCLOSURES

Interest expense on lease liabilities 860,051 -

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities have been included in the borrowings line item on the statement of assets available for 
benefits. Refer to note 2 Borrowing Costs.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows: 

Within one year 2,914,687 -
Two to five years 7,054,719 -

More than five years 4,588,855 -
  14,558,261 -
Less finance charges component (2,011,657) -

12,546,604 -
Non-current liabilities 12,546,604 -

As disclosed in significant accounting policy 1.17 the Fund adopted IFRS 16 in the current year but has not 
restated the comparatives. BPOPF elected to apply the practical expedients in IFRS 16 for short-term leases 
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. It also elected to apply the practical expedients 
that permits the Fund not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial 
application but instead to apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 
17 and IFRIC 4.

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 
31 March 2019

Operating lease commitment as at 31 Mach 2019 (Non-cancellable 
period)

10,403,389 -

Less: Effect of discounting non-cancellable lease commitments at an 
annual rate of 6.5%

(1,130,937) -

Effect of estimating present value of lease payments during extension 
period as required by IFRS 16

4,465,827 -

  13,738,279 -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2020 2019

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

551,580,000 - 551,580,000

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

532,189,000 - 532,189,000Investment
Property

RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY - 2020

Opening 
balance

Additions  Fair value 
adjustments 

Total

Investment property 551,580,000 75,000,000 (94,391,000) 532,189,000

RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY - 2019

Opening 
balance

Fair value 
adjustments 

 Total

Investment property 737,613,163 (186,033,163) 551,580,000

Registers with details of land and buildings are available for inspection by shareholders or their duly 
authorised representatives at the registered office of the Fund.

The investment properties were included in investments on the face of the statement of assets available 
for benefits as at 31 March 2019. This has been restated to correct this error which had an impact on the 
presentation of the statement of assets available for benefits.

DETAILS OF VALUATION

Fair value of the investment property is determined by using market comparable method. This means that 
valuations performed by the valuer are based on active market prices, significantly adjusted for difference 
in the nature, location or condition of the specific property. As at the date of valuation 31 March 2020, 
the investment property’s fair values were based on valuations performed by Cribs (Pty) Limited t/a Apex 
Properties. Cribs (Pty) Limited t/a Apex Properties is an accredited independent valuer.

Significant increases/(decreases) in market prices, changes in the nature, location and condition of property 
would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value of the properties.
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VALUATION TECHNIQUES AND INPUTS

VALUATION TECHNIQUE UNOBSERVABLE INPUT  Range

Income capitalisation approach Capitalisation rate 8 - 10%

INFORMATION ABOUT SENSITIVITY TO CHANGES IN UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS

The fair value of investment properties is a function of the unobservable inputs and the net rental generated 
by each property in the portfolio of the Fund. Significant increases/(decreases) in the capitalisation rate 
would result in significantly lower/(higher) fair value measurement. The changes are dependent on various 
market factors including location of property and quality and length of lease periods.

Undiscounted lease payments to be received     

1 year  50,717,910 44,318,784

2 years 45,982,943 45,196,184

3 years 45,382,401 41,851,750

4 years 41,812,707 41,054,687

5 years 33,737,215 37,278,647

>5 years 95,095,192 97,683,305

312,728,368 307,383,357

Investment property comprises of buildings for use as investment property maintained (by the owner or 
by the leases as right- of-use asset) which are fully held to generate revenue, profits or both and for the 
Fund’s administrative purposes, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods and services or 
sale in the ordinary course of business.
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14. INVESTMENTS

31 MARCH 2020 Private equity Local equities Offshore
equities/equity

funds

Local fixed
interest

funds/bonds

Offshore fixed
interest Money market

securities
Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,334,393,193 - 2,023,949,005 - 388,054,004 4,746,396,202

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,513,745,553 - 2,669,996,776 876,600,122 244,433,660 5,304,776,111

Messidor - Letsema 218,468,502 - - - - 325,741,072 544,209,574

Morgan Stanley 18,643,052 - - - - - 18,643,052

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - 789,222 789,222

Messidor-Hilton Dev Project - - - - - 29,888,776 29,888,776

Investec Asset Management Limited - 887,305,731 10,280,795,873 820,367,517 - 508,638,528 12,497,107,649

Moravia 281,685,121 - - - - - 281,685,121

Allan Gray Botswana - 5,903,765,231 - 1,145,652,275 - 828,102,745 7,877,520,251

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 1,825,000,000 - - - - - 1,825,000,000

Barak 1,362,028,122 - - - - - 1,362,028,122

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - - - 867,357,271 867,357,271

Letsema (Pty) Ltd 38,000,000 - - - - - 38,000,000

Viltry (Pty) Ltd (300,000) - - - - - (300,000)

Falcon 612,416,991 - - - - - 612,416,991

BOP Investments 84,400,469 - - - - - 84,400,469

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 16,375,189,247 - 1,669,560,574 86,579,469 18,131,329,290

PAIDF - - 101,108,456 - - - 101,108,456

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,209,678,561 - - 25,061,364 1,234,739,925

BPOPF transition account - - - - - 3,278,908,588 3,278,908,588

Vantage - - 131,741,455 - - - 131,741,455

Harding Loevner - - 6,751,136,938 - - 185,116,228 6,936,253,166

Puma Energy 90,000,000 - - - - - 90,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - - - 232,677,865 232,677,865

4,530,342,257 10,639,209,708 34,849,650,530 6,659,965,573 2,546,160,696 7,001,348,792 66,226,677,556

5% of investment 226,517,113 531,960,485 1,742,482,527 332,998,279 127,308,035 350,067,440 3,311,333,878

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...



| BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 83

31 MARCH 2020 Private equity Local equities Offshore
equities/equity

funds

Local fixed
interest

funds/bonds

Offshore fixed
interest Money market

securities
Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,334,393,193 - 2,023,949,005 - 388,054,004 4,746,396,202

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,513,745,553 - 2,669,996,776 876,600,122 244,433,660 5,304,776,111

Messidor - Letsema 218,468,502 - - - - 325,741,072 544,209,574

Morgan Stanley 18,643,052 - - - - - 18,643,052

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - 789,222 789,222

Messidor-Hilton Dev Project - - - - - 29,888,776 29,888,776

Investec Asset Management Limited - 887,305,731 10,280,795,873 820,367,517 - 508,638,528 12,497,107,649

Moravia 281,685,121 - - - - - 281,685,121

Allan Gray Botswana - 5,903,765,231 - 1,145,652,275 - 828,102,745 7,877,520,251

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 1,825,000,000 - - - - - 1,825,000,000

Barak 1,362,028,122 - - - - - 1,362,028,122

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - - - 867,357,271 867,357,271

Letsema (Pty) Ltd 38,000,000 - - - - - 38,000,000

Viltry (Pty) Ltd (300,000) - - - - - (300,000)

Falcon 612,416,991 - - - - - 612,416,991

BOP Investments 84,400,469 - - - - - 84,400,469

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 16,375,189,247 - 1,669,560,574 86,579,469 18,131,329,290

PAIDF - - 101,108,456 - - - 101,108,456

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,209,678,561 - - 25,061,364 1,234,739,925

BPOPF transition account - - - - - 3,278,908,588 3,278,908,588

Vantage - - 131,741,455 - - - 131,741,455

Harding Loevner - - 6,751,136,938 - - 185,116,228 6,936,253,166

Puma Energy 90,000,000 - - - - - 90,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - - - 232,677,865 232,677,865

4,530,342,257 10,639,209,708 34,849,650,530 6,659,965,573 2,546,160,696 7,001,348,792 66,226,677,556

5% of investment 226,517,113 531,960,485 1,742,482,527 332,998,279 127,308,035 350,067,440 3,311,333,878
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31 MARCH 2019 Private equity Local equities Offshore
equities/equity

funds

Local fixed
interest

funds/bonds

Offshore fixed
interest Money market

securities
Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,676,400,027 - 2,048,583,914 - 68,586,365 4,793,570,306

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,500,470,537 - 2,796,414,344 1,041,513,740 101,649,295 5,440,047,916

Messidor - Letsema Fund 198,708,078 - - 331,850,318 - - 530,558,396

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 17,175,365 - 17,175,365

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - 923,025 923,025

Investec Asset Management Limited - 965,516,753 11,428,781,066 997,585,328 - 97,063,011 13,488,946,158

Messidor - Hilton Dev Project - - - 28,205,209 - - 28,205,209

Moravia 76,025,622 - - - - - 76,025,622

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,533,694,767 - 1,019,157,234 - 351,917,462 7,904,769,463

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 2,025,000,000 - - - - - 2,025,000,000

Barak 1,166,693,973 - - - - - 1,166,693,973

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 396,870,971 - - 396,870,971

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (45) - - - - (45)

Falcon 544,139,687 - - - - - 544,139,687

Botswana Opportunities Partnership 379,500,392 - - - - - 379,500,392

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 18,415,176,357 - - 11,645,875 18,426,822,232

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited - - 63,832,050 - - - 63,832,050

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,432,638,350 - - 50,383,614 1,483,021,964

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,619,192,976 - 464,288,920 2,083,481,896

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 110,140,176 - - - 110,140,176

Harding Loevner - - 6,446,590,466 - - 48,567,741 6,495,158,207

Puma Energy 132,000,000 - - - - - 132,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 205,375,019 - - 205,375,019

4,522,067,752 11,676,082,039 37,897,158,465 9,443,235,313 1,058,689,105 1,195,025,308 65,792,257,982

5% investment 226,103,388 583,804,102 1,894,857,923 472,161,766 52,934,455 59,751,265 3,289,612,899

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...
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31 MARCH 2019 Private equity Local equities Offshore
equities/equity

funds

Local fixed
interest

funds/bonds

Offshore fixed
interest Money market

securities
Total

African Alliance Botswana Ltd - 2,676,400,027 - 2,048,583,914 - 68,586,365 4,793,570,306

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited - 1,500,470,537 - 2,796,414,344 1,041,513,740 101,649,295 5,440,047,916

Messidor - Letsema Fund 198,708,078 - - 331,850,318 - - 530,558,396

Fleming Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Ltd - - - - 17,175,365 - 17,175,365

Messidor - Hilton Development Project (Hospitality) - - - - - 923,025 923,025

Investec Asset Management Limited - 965,516,753 11,428,781,066 997,585,328 - 97,063,011 13,488,946,158

Messidor - Hilton Dev Project - - - 28,205,209 - - 28,205,209

Moravia 76,025,622 - - - - - 76,025,622

Allan Gray Botswana - 6,533,694,767 - 1,019,157,234 - 351,917,462 7,904,769,463

DECI Investments (Pty) Ltd 2,025,000,000 - - - - - 2,025,000,000

Barak 1,166,693,973 - - - - - 1,166,693,973

Fixed Deposit FNBB - - - 396,870,971 - - 396,870,971

Kgori Capital Botswana (Pty) Ltd - (45) - - - - (45)

Falcon 544,139,687 - - - - - 544,139,687

Botswana Opportunities Partnership 379,500,392 - - - - - 379,500,392

BPOPF Offshore Investments - - 18,415,176,357 - - 11,645,875 18,426,822,232

Harith General Partners Proprietary Limited - - 63,832,050 - - - 63,832,050

Sarasin & Partners LLP - - 1,432,638,350 - - 50,383,614 1,483,021,964

BPOPF transition account - - - 1,619,192,976 - 464,288,920 2,083,481,896

Vantage Mezzanine III sub fund - - 110,140,176 - - - 110,140,176

Harding Loevner - - 6,446,590,466 - - 48,567,741 6,495,158,207

Puma Energy 132,000,000 - - - - - 132,000,000

Pre-retirement switch - - - 205,375,019 - - 205,375,019

4,522,067,752 11,676,082,039 37,897,158,465 9,443,235,313 1,058,689,105 1,195,025,308 65,792,257,982

5% investment 226,103,388 583,804,102 1,894,857,923 472,161,766 52,934,455 59,751,265 3,289,612,899
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The following investments exceed 5% of the net assets of the single category investments available for 
benefits:

 Local equities: 2020 2019

Botswana Insurance Holdings Limited 986,544,685 984,058,478

Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited 759,400,824 708,222,738

First National Bank of Botswana Limited 1,165,975,258 1,068,510,968

Sechaba Brewery Holdings Limited 975,487,436 843,865,998

Letshego Holdings Limited - 850,878,878

Sefalana Holdings Limited 1,036,366,962 966,717,194

Turnstar Limited 728,375,603 735,502,694

DECI Investments (Pty) Limited 1,825,000,000 2,025,000,000

Feune 218,468,502 -

Investec Limited 574,577,495 -

NAP 810,871,614 805,013,242

9,081,068,379 8,987,770,190

Offshore equities:   

Investec emerging markets equity fund 4,268,916,733 4,728,854,578

Local fixed interest funds/bonds:

Government of Botswana - BW007 bond 716,275,905 595,334,875

Government of Botswana - BW008 bond 654,001,584 611,281,000

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...
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Investment property: 2020 2019

Commercial property on Lot 1108, Gaborone 88,000,000 79,200,000

Plot 70675, Gaborone (Industrial Property) 218,468,502 198,708,078

Commercial property on Lot 61920, Gaborone 67,600,000 73,500,000

Messidor Hilton Development Project 244,000,000 208,000,000

Blue Jacket Square 27,730,000 27,730,000

Letplaza Plot 6142 Francistown 45,000,000 43,270,000

Tirelo House PLOT 1140-1145 49,000,000 35,900,000

Lot 20596 Block 3 industrial 45,000,000 -

 15,505,061,103 15,589,548,721

Investments below 5% of the net assets of the single category 
investments available for benefits:

51,253,805,453 50,754,289,261

Total investments including investment property 66,758,866,556 66,343,837,982

The movement in investments is as follows:
Financial assets

  

Balance at beginning of year 65,792,257,982 59,521,881,136

Net movement during the year 3,578,077,338 2,633,608,733

Changes in fair value (3,143,657,764) 3,636,768,113

Balance at end of year 66,226,677,556 65,792,257,982

Investment properties   

Balance at beginning of year 551,580,000 737,613,163

Addition during the year 75,000,000 -

Changes in fair value (94,391,000) (186,033,163)

Balance at end of year 532,189,000 551,580,000

66,758,866,556 66,343,837,982

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...
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The following direct investments have been made in 
debt securities issued by the participating employer:

2020 2019

Government of Botswana - BW0 7 bond 716,275,905 710,752,507

Government of Botswana - BW0 8 bond 654,001,584 650,333,787

Government of Botswana - BW0 11 bond 289,994,979 249,475,522

Government of Botswana - BW0 12 bond 137,688,566 137,220,489

Government of Botswana - BW0 13 bond 170,020,155 167,501,373

Government of Botswana - BW0 14 bond 535,283,834 193,460,542

Government of Botswana - BW0 15 bond 10,193,862 4,962,130

 2,513,458,885 2,113,706,350

Various of the unitised investment funds in which the Fund has invested may also hold investments in debt 
securities issued by the participating employer. These are not considered direct investments by the Fund 
as it has no control over the composition of investments in such unitised funds.
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VALUATION METHODOLOGY

A description of the nature of the techniques used to calculate valuations based on observable inputs and 
valuations based on unobservable inputs is set out below.

Level 1

Financial instruments for which their valuations are determined by reference to unadjusted traded prices 
for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available and the price 
represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Level 2

Financial instruments valued using inputs other than quoted prices as described above for level 1 but 
which are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3

Financial instruments valued using inputs for the asset or liability, that are not based on observable market 
data. Specific valuation techniques used include discounted cash flow analysis. The principle assumptions 
used are disclosed as part of critical accounting estimates and judgements.

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...
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TRANSFERS BETWEEN LEVEL 1 AND LEVEL 2

There were no such transfers during the year.

The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9 at 31 
March 2020 are as follows:

Financial Assets Measurement Category Carrying Amount

Cash & cash equivalent Amortised cost 354,488,199

Accounts Receivable Amortised cost 6,637,375

Private equity FVTPL (Mandatory) 4,530,342,256

Onshore listed equity FVTPL (Mandatory) 10,639,209,708

Offshore equities & equity fund FVTPL (Mandatory) 34,849,650,530

Onshore fixed interest funds/bonds FVTPL (Mandatory) 6,659,965,573

Offshore fixed interest funds/bonds FVTPL (Mandatory) 2,546,162,686

Money market securities Amortised cost 7,001,348,792

  66,587,805,119

15 ACCOUNTS  RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivables - Investments:

Interest receivable - Investments 2,266,147 -

Rent receivables 1,410,865 -

VAT 893,790 -

4,570,802 -

Accounts receivables - Fund operations:
Prepayments 3,610,722 4,757,834

Deposits 855,891 538,917

Interest receivable 441,536 -

Other receivable 1,662,936 51,698

6,571,085 5,348,449

Total accounts receivables 11,141,887 5,348,449

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) relates to rent receivable only.

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...
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FAIR VALUE OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 27 Financial instruments and risk management.

Description Current 1-30 past 
due

31-60 past  
due

61 - 90 past 
due

Over 90 past
due

Total

Expected loss rate 25.84 % 34.26 % 60.57 % 97.91 % 100.00 % 75.39 %

Gross carrying amounts 988,201 747,290 466,111 141,518 3,390,379 5,733,499

Expected credit loss (255,351) (256,022) (282,323) (138,560) (3,390,379) (4,322,635)

Amount not provided for - - - - - (1,410,864)

Net carrying amount 732,850 491,268 183,788 2,958 - -

The Fund uses the probability of default approach to compute expected credit losses (ECL). ECL is a product 
of three variables being the the probability of default (PDs), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default 
(EAD), which are adjusted for relevant forward looking macro-economic fundamentals. The probability of 
default is derived from the net flow-rate of the debtors age analysis for a group of customers with shared 
credit risk. The model assumes LGD of 100% because the rental debtors do not carry collateral and 90 days 
past due is assumed to be an absorbing state. The EAD is the carrying amount at the year end.

Given the short-term nature of the trade receivables, we do not expect the macro-economic factors which 
are deemed to be medium to long-term in nature to impact the impairment of trade receivables and 
consequently we have ignored these factors in deriving the impairment losses.

Due to the short-term nature of rental receivables, management has concluded that macro-economic 
forward looking information (i.e GDP and unemployment indicators) has no significant impact of the 
model. These indicators tend to be lagging in nature and are published at intervals that are longer than 
the average life of the debtors. Management believes that the main driver of defaults are changes in 
operational collection strategies and new tenant underwriting standard.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

In current account - Active and deferred members  327,203,162 109,292,494

In current account - With profit pensioners 2,170,619 4,870,778

In current account - Non profit pensioners 1,975,687 3,304,437

In call and money markets account - Fund secretariat 23,138,731 31,170,287

 354,488,199 148,637,996

The call accounts maintained with the First National Bank Botswana Limited by the Fund earn interest 
at 0.75%p.a (2019:0.30%).
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17. RESERVE RESERVE

Figures in Pula  2020 2019

Balance at beginning of year  593,887,208 855,503,728

Release of reserve - (261,616,520)

Transfers to data reserve 236,551 -

Balance at end of year 594,123,759 593,887,208

(a) Rule 4.3.1(a) of the Fund requires that any amount by which the investment earnings of the Fund 
exceed the rate of investment earnings declared by the Trustees (on the advice of the Actuary) should be 
transferred to a Reserve account.

(b) Rule 4.3.1(b) of the Fund requires that forfeited benefits of members who have left the service 
prematurely should be transferred to a Reserve Account.

(c) Rule 4.3.2 of the Fund requires that the amount standing to the credit of the Reserve Account should 
be increased or decreased by the share of the investment earnings of the Fund that the amount in the 
Reserve Account bears to the sum of all accounts standing to the credit of the Fund. The reserve account 
comprises of the following:

The reserve account comprises of the following:   

Data reserve 594,123,759 593,887,208

DATA RESERVE

The data reserve was created to meet the cost of any losses incurred by the Fund due to data errors in 
underlying data of individual members. This reserve is being maintained as there is still some uncertainty 
with regards to certain transfer valuations.
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18. PENSION FUND ACCOUNT

With Profit Pensioners
Balance at beginning of year  4,755,004,902 4,884,375,652

Transfer during the year 70,118,063 253,708,672

Benefits paid (386,278,167) (383,079,422)

Balance at end of year 4,438,844,798 4,755,004,902

Balance payable within one year 377,748,142 361,418,153

Balance payable after one year 4,061,096,656 4,393,586,749

 4,438,844,798 4,755,004,902

Non-Profit Pensioners
Balance at beginning of year  2,520,812,564 1,890,924,339

Transfer during the year 609,821,636 820,795,759

Benefits paid (233,257,932) (190,907,534)

Balance at end of year 2,897,376,268 2,520,812,564

Balance payable within one year 215,672,334 179,165,882

Balance payable after one year 2,681,703,934 2,341,646,682

 2,897,376,268 2,520,812,564

Total 7,336,221,066 7,275,817,466

Rule 4.4.1 requires a Pension Account to be maintained under the Fund and to be credited with the value 
of the Member’s Fund Credit at his/her retirement in respect of those members who elected in terms of 
the options in Rule 5.3.1 to have their pension paid from the Fund, and any amount transferred from the 
Reserve Account in terms of Rule 4.3.1(d).

Figures in Pula  2020 2019
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19. LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year  2,914,687 -

- in second to fifth year inclusive 7,054,719 -

- later than five years 4,588,855 -

 14,558,261 -

less: future finance charges (2,011,657) -

Present value of minimum lease payments 12,546,604 -

Non-current liabilities 12,546,604 -

20. BENEFITS PAYABLE

Withdrawal
Balance at beginning of year  75,649,257 58,445,523

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 41,685,095 54,606,460

Movement during the year (99,706,644) (37,402,726)

Closing balance 17,627,708 75,649,257

Death
Opening balance  235,224,970 170,839,432

Lump sums accrued on death 173,894,444 294,725,830

Movement during the year (273,556,032) (230,340,292)

Closing balance 135,563,382 235,224,970

Retirement
Opening balance  274,003,301 817,407,125

Lump sums accrued on retirement 1,286,012,950 504,164,272

Movement during the year (1,020,315,976) (1,047,568,096)

Closing balance 539,700,275 274,003,301

Unclaimed benefits*
Balance at year end 151,009,324 -

Total benefits payable 843,900,681 584,877,528

* Unclaimed benefits due more than 12 months have been presented separately following the reclassification 
from the total benefits payable in the prior financial year to comply with the approved fund rules.

Figures in Pula  2020 2019
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21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable - Investments
Management fees accrued 13,729,235 26,939,315

Balance at end of year 13,729,235 26,939,315

Accounts payable - Fund operations
Trade payables  1,923,221 6,006,847

Amounts due to related parties 28,120,822 10,345,388

Accrued staff expenses 12,695,615 10,544,335

Accrued audit fees 1,339,110 1,581,719

Other accrued expenses 10,869,543 15,112,727

Deferred lease rent 605,372 885,424

 55,553,683 44,476,440

69,282,918 71,415,755

22. INCOME TAX  

The Fund is an approved Pension Fund in Botswana per the Second schedule of the Income Tax Act and is 
exempt from Income Taxation. This exemption does not extend to the withholding tax deducted at source.

23. COMMITMENTS

There were no capital commitments at the end of the current and previous reporting period.

24. RELATED PARTIES

RELATED PARTY BALANCES

Amounts due to related parties
Botswana Government 28,120,822 10,345,388

Figures in Pula  2020 2019
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Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. All related party 
transactions are carried out during the course of activities of the Fund.

The Fund was registered as a result of the decision of the Government of Botswana to change the public 
officers’ pension arrangement. The Government is the sole employer.

Transactions with the employer consists of monthly contributions in respect of existing and new employees 
and transfers receivable/payable in respect of members whose transfer balances are recalculated upon 
receipt of new information concerning their employment details.

The Fund has also appointed independent asset managers to manage its investment portfolios. These asset 
managers have decision making ability concerning investment decisions within statutory requirements of 
the Retirement Funds Act.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with employer
Contributions received during the year  2,632,543,554 2,182,537,852

Transfer for the year 4,438,956 2,487,747

Unallocated contributions received 28,120,822 10,345,288

2,665,103,332 2,195,370,887

(b) Board of trustees’ remuneration  

The total remuneration paid to trustees during the year was P1,063,650 (2019: P 599,950) and consisted 
of only fixed trustees’ fees.

(c) Senior management remuneration

The total remuneration paid to Senior Management during the year was P10,075,464 (2019: P 10,982,286).

(d) Lecha Administrators (Pty) Ltd

To comply with the fund rules, the Fund formed a private company in 2019, Lecha Administrators, to form 
a joint venture to perform the administration function.

Figures in Pula  2020 2019
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25. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the 
end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. The two 
types of events are:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting 
events); and

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events).

(a) Covid-19 pandemic

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the Trustees took into account all 
available information about the future, and specifically the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Fund’s 
going concern.

On evaluating the foregoing the trustees were unable to establish any factors that would negatively impact 
the Fund’s going concern status however according to the IMF, “The COVID-19 pandemic is inflicting 
high and rising human costs worldwide, and the necessary protection measures are severely impacting 
economic activity. As a result of the pandemic, the global economy is projected to contract sharply by 
–3 percent in 2020, much worse than during the 2008–09 financial crisis. In a baseline scenario which 
assumes that the pandemic fades in the second half of 2020 and containment efforts can be gradually 
unwound—the global economy is projected to grow by 5.8 percent in 2021 as economic activity normalizes, 
helped by policy support.”

The Fund operates a defined contribution plan with investment and actuarial risk being borne by the 
pensioners. The investment portfolio of the Fund has suffered losses in the last quarter of the financial 
year due to the Covid-19 pandemic which is expected to negatively impact on payouts for pensioners 
who are due for retirement. However, the investment portfolio of the Fund is well diversified globally and 
managed by very experienced fund managers. The Trustees are therefore confident that the portfolio will 
recover and ease the impact and consequently improve future retirement benefits payable to members.

The Trustees have reviewed the Fund’s exposure to the effects of a possible global recession on the 
Fund’s results, financial position and cashflows and it is the Trustees’ assessment that the Fund had no 
significant withdrawals or significant contributions as at the approval of the financial statements. As at the 
date of approval of the financial statements, the Fund’s investments had a fair value of P73,606,194,396 
as compared to P66,758,866,556.
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Figures in Pula  2020 2019

(b) The former CEO’s contract ended on 30th June 2020.

(c) Removal of Mr Dittah Molodi from the BPOPF Board of Trustees’ duties on 03 June 2020.

(d) The country has been blacklisted by the European Union and therefore its likely to liquidate its 
investments leading to the realisation of losses reported in the year ending 31st March 2020.

26. FUND ANALYSIS

DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND

Government of Botswana and its authorised agencies participate in the pension Fund for their eligible 
employees. The Fund is a defined contribution plan.

Accordingly, the Fund’s assets and liabilities are attributed to five main categories.

Active and deferred members
These are members from whom the Fund receives monthly contributions and who have not yet attained 
retirement age.

With profit pensioners
Pensioners whose annual escalations in benefits is determined based on performance of the underlying 
investments.

Without profit pensioners
Pensioners whose annual escalations in benefits are predetermined and fixed throughout the pension 
period.

Pre-retirement
These are members nearing retirement age. Those who will retire in no more than three years.

Operations and reserves
Reserves set aside through operation of the Fund’s rules and not yet allocated to individual members’ 
accounts. This category also includes the assets and liabilities of the Fund secretariat and cash which has 
not yet been allocated to specific investment funds.
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves P P P P P P

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 38,517,093 38,517,093

Investments 58,912,045,652 4,544,066,005 2,537,888,034 232,677,865 - 66,226,677,556

Investment property 532,189,000 - - - - 532,189,000

Right-of-use assets 10,710,632 - - - - 10,710,632

Accounts receivables 11,141,887 - - - - 11,141,887

Cash and cash equivalents 354,488,199 - - - - 354,488,199

Total assets 59,820,575,370 4,544,066,005 2,537,888,034 232,677,865 38,517,093 67,173,724,367

Benefits payable 692,891,365 - - - - 692,891,365

Accounts payable 67,944,712 1,169,870 168,336 - - 69,282,918

Lease liabilities 12,546,604 - - - - 12,546,604

Unclaimed benefits 151,009,324 - - - - 151,009,324

Total liabilities 924,392,005 1,169,870 168,336 - - 925,730,211

Net assets 58,896,183,365 4,542,896,135 2,537,719,698 232,677,865 38,517,093 66,247,994,156

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 449,695,728 104,051,337 (359,656,570) 126,793,381 (555,606,666) (7)

31 March 2020 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

 153,445 5,464 3,392 50 - 162,351

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statutory contributions 880,777,651 - - - - 880,777,651

Employer contributions 2,632,543,554 - - - - 2,632,543,554

Members' voluntary contributions 5,502,197 - - - - 5,502,197

Transfers in from funds 4,438,956 - - - - 4,438,956

Other income 275,380,954 - - - - 275,380,954

Finance costs (860,051) - - - - (860,051)

Rental Income 68,487,526 - - - - 68,487,526

Profit on disposal of investments 658,268,781 20,703,274 288,556 - - 679,260,611

Dividend income 883,676,888 43,829,260 - - - 927,506,148

Interest income 465,957,943 134,912,525 131,062,494 8,539,664 - 740,472,626

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments (3,030,854,708) (99,941,545) (123,394,690) 16,142,179 - (3,238,048,764)

Management expenses (248,362,048) (18,779,099) (6,697,864) - (195,898,494) (469,737,505)

Monthly pensions (619,536,099) - - - - (619,536,099)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (41,685,095) - - - - (41,685,095)

Lump sums accrued on death (173,894,444) - - - - (173,894,444)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (1,286,012,950) - - - - (1,286,012,950)

473,829,055 80,724,415 1,258,496 24,681,843 (195,898,494) 384,595,315

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves (236,551) - - - 236,551 -

Transfers directly (to)/from pensioners accounts 60,403,600 (316,160,104) 376,563,704 - - -

Inter segment transfer - (80,724,415) (1,258,496) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 533,996,104 (316,160,104) 376,563,704 24,681,843 236,551 384,595,315

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2019 57,912,491,533 4,755,004,902 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,863,398,848

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2020 58,446,487,637 4,438,844,798 2,897,376,268 105,884,484 594,123,759 66,247,994,163
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Net assets allocated to funds and reserves P P P P P P

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 38,517,093 38,517,093

Investments 58,912,045,652 4,544,066,005 2,537,888,034 232,677,865 - 66,226,677,556

Investment property 532,189,000 - - - - 532,189,000

Right-of-use assets 10,710,632 - - - - 10,710,632

Accounts receivables 11,141,887 - - - - 11,141,887

Cash and cash equivalents 354,488,199 - - - - 354,488,199

Total assets 59,820,575,370 4,544,066,005 2,537,888,034 232,677,865 38,517,093 67,173,724,367

Benefits payable 692,891,365 - - - - 692,891,365

Accounts payable 67,944,712 1,169,870 168,336 - - 69,282,918

Lease liabilities 12,546,604 - - - - 12,546,604

Unclaimed benefits 151,009,324 - - - - 151,009,324

Total liabilities 924,392,005 1,169,870 168,336 - - 925,730,211

Net assets 58,896,183,365 4,542,896,135 2,537,719,698 232,677,865 38,517,093 66,247,994,156

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 449,695,728 104,051,337 (359,656,570) 126,793,381 (555,606,666) (7)

31 March 2020 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

 153,445 5,464 3,392 50 - 162,351

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statutory contributions 880,777,651 - - - - 880,777,651

Employer contributions 2,632,543,554 - - - - 2,632,543,554

Members' voluntary contributions 5,502,197 - - - - 5,502,197

Transfers in from funds 4,438,956 - - - - 4,438,956

Other income 275,380,954 - - - - 275,380,954

Finance costs (860,051) - - - - (860,051)

Rental Income 68,487,526 - - - - 68,487,526

Profit on disposal of investments 658,268,781 20,703,274 288,556 - - 679,260,611

Dividend income 883,676,888 43,829,260 - - - 927,506,148

Interest income 465,957,943 134,912,525 131,062,494 8,539,664 - 740,472,626

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments (3,030,854,708) (99,941,545) (123,394,690) 16,142,179 - (3,238,048,764)

Management expenses (248,362,048) (18,779,099) (6,697,864) - (195,898,494) (469,737,505)

Monthly pensions (619,536,099) - - - - (619,536,099)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (41,685,095) - - - - (41,685,095)

Lump sums accrued on death (173,894,444) - - - - (173,894,444)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (1,286,012,950) - - - - (1,286,012,950)

473,829,055 80,724,415 1,258,496 24,681,843 (195,898,494) 384,595,315

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves (236,551) - - - 236,551 -

Transfers directly (to)/from pensioners accounts 60,403,600 (316,160,104) 376,563,704 - - -

Inter segment transfer - (80,724,415) (1,258,496) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 533,996,104 (316,160,104) 376,563,704 24,681,843 236,551 384,595,315

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2019 57,912,491,533 4,755,004,902 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,863,398,848

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2020 58,446,487,637 4,438,844,798 2,897,376,268 105,884,484 594,123,759 66,247,994,163
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31 March 2019 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

 Number of members 153,633 5,531 2,896 50 - 162,110

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statutory contributions 753,200,900 - - - - 753,200,900

Employer contributions 2,182,537,852 - - - - 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 - - - - 4,743,632

Transfers in from funds 2,487,747 - - - - 2,487,747

Other incomes 285,859,778 - - - - 285,859,778

Rental Income 43,411,287 - - - - 43,411,287

Profit on disposal of investments 37,272,333 (10,776,992) - - - 26,495,341

Dividend income 911,728,333 42,767,829 - - - 954,496,162

Interest income 440,365,187 179,377,013 118,237,336 7,899,631 - 745,879,167

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments 3,487,195,675 (154,203,195) 117,742,470 - - 3,450,734,950

Management expenses (259,202,282) (19,134,061) (7,516,377) - (195,898,494) (481,751,214)

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) - - - - (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (54,606,460) - - - - (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on death (294,725,830) - - - - (294,725,830)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (504,164,272) - - - - (504,164,272)

6,462,116,924 38,030,594 228,463,429 7,899,631 (195,898,494) 6,540,612,084

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves 261,616,520 - - - (261,616,520) -

Transfers directly (to)/from pensioners accounts (500,517,475) (129,370,750) 629,888,225 - - -

Inter segment transfer 70,595,529 (38,030,595) (228,463,428) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 6,293,811,498 (129,370,751) 629,888,226 7,899,631 (261,616,520) 6,540,612,084

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2018 51,618,680,035 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,339 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,322,786,764

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2019 57,912,491,533 4,755,004,902 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,863,398,848

Net assets allocated to funds and reserves P P P P P P

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 21,867,704 21,867,704

Investments 58,488,644,977 4,748,001,773 2,350,236,212 205,375,020 - 65,792,257,982

Investment property 551,580,000 - - - - 551,580,000

Accounts receivables 148,048 - - - 5,200,401 5,348,449

Cash and cash equivalents 109,292,494 4,870,778 3,304,437 - 31,170,287 148,637,996

Total assets 59,149,665,519 4,752,872,551 2,353,540,649 205,375,020 58,238,392 66,519,692,131

Benefits payable 584,877,528 - - - - 584,877,528

Accounts payable 32,618,699 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 71,415,755

Total liabilities 617,496,227 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 656,293,283

Net assets 58,532,169,292 4,749,687,646 2,352,310,991 205,375,020 23,855,899 65,863,398,848

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 619,677,759 (5,317,256) (168,501,573) 124,172,379 (570,031,309) -
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31 March 2019 Active and deferred 
members

Pensioners
With profit

Pensioners
Without profit

Pre Retirement Operations
and reserves

Total

 Number of members 153,633 5,531 2,896 50 - 162,110

TOTAL FUNDS AND RESERVES P P P P P P
Members' statutory contributions 753,200,900 - - - - 753,200,900

Employer contributions 2,182,537,852 - - - - 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 - - - - 4,743,632

Transfers in from funds 2,487,747 - - - - 2,487,747

Other incomes 285,859,778 - - - - 285,859,778

Rental Income 43,411,287 - - - - 43,411,287

Profit on disposal of investments 37,272,333 (10,776,992) - - - 26,495,341

Dividend income 911,728,333 42,767,829 - - - 954,496,162

Interest income 440,365,187 179,377,013 118,237,336 7,899,631 - 745,879,167

Net fair value (loss)/gain from financial instruments 3,487,195,675 (154,203,195) 117,742,470 - - 3,450,734,950

Management expenses (259,202,282) (19,134,061) (7,516,377) - (195,898,494) (481,751,214)

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) - - - - (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal (54,606,460) - - - - (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on death (294,725,830) - - - - (294,725,830)

Lump sums accrued on retirement (504,164,272) - - - - (504,164,272)

6,462,116,924 38,030,594 228,463,429 7,899,631 (195,898,494) 6,540,612,084

Transfers directly (to)/from reserves 261,616,520 - - - (261,616,520) -

Transfers directly (to)/from pensioners accounts (500,517,475) (129,370,750) 629,888,225 - - -

Inter segment transfer 70,595,529 (38,030,595) (228,463,428) - 195,898,494 -

Movement during the year 6,293,811,498 (129,370,751) 629,888,226 7,899,631 (261,616,520) 6,540,612,084

Opening fund balance as at 1 April 2018 51,618,680,035 4,884,375,652 1,890,924,339 73,303,010 855,503,728 59,322,786,764

Closing fund balance as at 31 March 2019 57,912,491,533 4,755,004,902 2,520,812,564 81,202,641 593,887,208 65,863,398,848

Net assets allocated to funds and reserves P P P P P P

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 21,867,704 21,867,704

Investments 58,488,644,977 4,748,001,773 2,350,236,212 205,375,020 - 65,792,257,982

Investment property 551,580,000 - - - - 551,580,000

Accounts receivables 148,048 - - - 5,200,401 5,348,449

Cash and cash equivalents 109,292,494 4,870,778 3,304,437 - 31,170,287 148,637,996

Total assets 59,149,665,519 4,752,872,551 2,353,540,649 205,375,020 58,238,392 66,519,692,131

Benefits payable 584,877,528 - - - - 584,877,528

Accounts payable 32,618,699 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 71,415,755

Total liabilities 617,496,227 3,184,905 1,229,658 - 34,382,493 656,293,283

Net assets 58,532,169,292 4,749,687,646 2,352,310,991 205,375,020 23,855,899 65,863,398,848

Net funding level - over/(under) funded 619,677,759 (5,317,256) (168,501,573) 124,172,379 (570,031,309) -



BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | 104

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

CURRENCY RISK

The Fund is exposed to currency risk mainly through its investments and term deposits denominated in 
foreign currencies, and foreign investments in securities, bonds and unitised and mutual funds. The Fund’s 
total exposure to currency risk (in P’000) through its investments in the above financial instruments 
amounts to P 40,607,743 (2019: P 41,727,042). The table below gives an indication of the Fund’s total 
exposure in different currencies.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
31 MARCH 2020

Amount
BWP ‘000

Amount
USD ‘000

Amount
ZAR ‘000

Total
BWP ‘000

Equity Listed 10,011,079 2,894,381 357,681 45,164,402

Unlisted 2,347,177 190,198 - 4,621,951

Unitised funds Listed - 11,066 - 132,354

Unlisted - 16,160 26,386 232,850

Bonds Listed 5,652,913 128,412 584,400 8,065,321

Unlisted 1,007,153 117 - 1,008,451

Money market securities 6,600,712 32,580 7,318 7,001,349

Total 25,619,034 3,272,914 975,785 66,226,678

Amount in BWP 25,619,034 39,144,063 1,463,680 66,226,678

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
31 MARCH 2019

Amount
BWP ‘000

Amount
USD ‘000

Amount
ZAR ‘000

Total
BWP ‘000

Equity Listed 10,223,966 3,348,882 646,344 49,416,444

Unlisted 2,859,320 161,234 - 4,522,067

Unitised funds Listed - 11,093 - -

Unlisted - 11,632 35,849 173,972

Bonds Listed 5,127,104 90,414 764,762 10,484,750

Unlisted 1,216,830 133 - -

Money market securities 4,637,995 56,669 4,648 1,195,024

Total 24,065,215 3,686,057 1,451,603 65,792,257

Amount in BWP 24,065,215 39,763,293 1,963,749 65,792,257

INTEREST RATE RISK     

Interest rate risk is the possible loss in the value of a fixed income asset resulting from an unexpected and 
adverse movement in interest rates and consequent change in price.

Financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rate risk are bank balances and cash, interest bearing 
securities and term deposits.
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Interest rates earned on financial instruments compare favourably with those currently available in the 
market. The net  exposure to interest rate risk (in P’000) as at 31 March 2020 amounted to P7,001,349 
(2019: P 5,255,599) being its exposure in respect of investment in local and offshore fixed interest 
instruments and cash at bank.

PRICE RISK

Price risk is the risk that the value of investment decreases as a result of changes in the prices and 
diminution of value of individual investments. The table below shows the Fund’s exposure to price risk 
based on the various stock exchanges on which its investments are traded.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Botswana 
Stock 

Exchange

NYSE/United 
states stock 

exchange

Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

Unlisted and 
listed on other

stock 
exchanges

Total

31 MARCH 2020 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

Equity 10,011,079 29,145,377 536,522 11,459,233 51,152,211

Bonds 6,058,535 - 876,602 1,098,402 8,033,539

Unitised funds - - - 39,580 39,580

Total 16,069,614 29,145,377 1,413,124 12,597,215 59,225,330

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Botswana 
Stock 

Exchange

NYSE/United 
states stock 

exchange

Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

Unlisted and 
listed on other

stock 
exchanges

Total

31 MARCH 2019 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000 P '000

Equity 11,676,082 21,644,210 874,383 13,909,270 48,103,945

Bonds 9,453,938 - 1,041,514 589,425 11,084,877

Unitised funds - - - 2,157,000 2,157,000

Total 21,130,020 21,644,210 1,915,897 16,655,695 61,345,822

FAIR VALUES:     

The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially identical to the carrying amounts reflected in 
the statement of funds and net assets. The fair value hierarchy of the Fund is disclosed in note 14 to the 
financial statements.
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MARKET RISK SENSITIVITY

The set of assumptions used for each of the risk factors hereunder are not forecasts, but merely “what if’ 
scenarios and the likely impact on the current portfolio, based on selected changes in risk variables.

The table below gives an indication of the risk sensitivities of the portfolio to various risk parameters. 
Assuming that the probability of the beneficial change in the risk variables are as likely to happen as an 
adverse change, both potential increase and decrease are shown for the indicated scenarios.

RISK VARIABLE Variable Varies by 2020
P ‘000

2019
P ‘000

Currency risk Pula 1 % (402,028) (484,488)

(fair value impact) (1)% 402,028 484,488

Price risk Price 1 % 566,088 613,458

(fair value impact) (1)% (566,088) (613,458)

Interest rate risk Interest yield 1 % 740,472 102,568

(cash flow impact) (1)% (740,472) (102,568)

CREDIT RISK    

The Fund takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due.

The Fund’s main credit risk concentration is spread between debt securities and trading derivative products. 
Less than 10% of the fair value of favourable contracts outstanding as at 31 March 2019 was with a single 
issuer. There were no trading derivative products in issue as at the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Fund’s Investment Committee is responsible for portfolio management and risk concentration issues 
and sector exposure. The Investment Committee is responsible for sanctioning large credit exposures to 
all investment managers. Financial assets of the Fund, which are subject to credit risk, consist mainly of 
investments.

Cash resources and unitised investments are placed with investment managers and financial institutions. 
These institutions and investment managers are of high standing. All transactions in listed securities are 
settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery 
of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase once 
the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation.
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Financial instrument Managed by local 
fund managers

Managed by 
others

Total

31 March 2020 P0,00 P0,00 P0,00

Unitised funds - 16,454,571 16,454,571

Bonds 6,643,487 2,546,163 9,189,650

Cash and cash equivalents 676,406 87,416 763,822

Total 7,319,893 19,088,150 26,408,043

Financial instrument Managed by local 
fund managers

Managed by 
others

Total

31 March 2019 P0,00 P0,00 P0,00

Unitised funds - 18,415,176 18,415,176

Bonds 6,205,390 - 6,205,390

Cash and cash equivalents 827,489 - 827,489

Total 7,032,879 18,415,176 25,448,055

The financial assets of the Fund which are subject to credit risk consists of bonds, unitised funds, loan, cash resources 
and receivables. These are not collateralized or subject to credit enhancements. These are readily convertible into cash. The 
cash resources are placed with reputable financial institutions. The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available).

Financial 
Instruments

Fixed interest Variable interest Total Credit rating

31 March 2020 P ‘000 P ‘000 P ‘000

Bonds Listed 2,853,040 339,707 3,192,747 AAA

90,429 368,241 458,670 AA-

54,581 8,766 63,347 A-

1,550,516 156,493 1,707,009 A or similar (A2 Moodys)

10,923 - 10,923 A+

291,652 11,284 302,936 AA or similar(AA- Global 
Credit Rating)

13,525 - 13,525 AA+

83,680 44,649 128,329 BBB-

35,748 14,029 49,777 BBB+

36,268 22,435 58,703 BBB

55,264 19,416 74,680 BB

5,408 33,646 39,054 BB+

- 24,358 24,358 BB-

- 38,338 38,338 Moody’s - Baa2

- 6,955 6,955 B+

1,041,680 854,291 1,895,971 Not rated

Total 6,122,714 1,942,608 8,065,322

The Fund is managed as follows:
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Financial Instruments Fixed interest Variable interest Total Credit rating

31 March 2020 P ‘000 P ‘000 P ‘000

Bonds Unlisted 330,159 - 330,159 AA-

33,131 - 33,131 BBB-

1,398 5,031 6,429 AA-

- 20,335 20,335 A or similar

- 66,928 66,928 BB

298,637 236,353 534,990 Not rated

Total 663,325 328,647 991,972

Unitised funds Listed 132,354 - 132,354 BBB

Cash and cash Equivalent 40,969 122,330 163,299 AA-

79,382 - 79,382 A+

14,093 41 14,134 BB

10,212 - 10,212 BBB

491,963 - 491,963 Not rated

Total 636,619 122,371 758,990

Grand total 7,555,012 2,393,626 9,948,638

Financial Instruments Fixed interest Variable interest Total Credit rating

31 March 2019 P ‘000 P ‘000 P ‘000

Bonds Listed 1,414,880 86,899 1,501,779 A or similar

1,690,593 425,983 2,116,576 AA or similar

903,749 588,081 1,491,830 Not rated

Total 4,009,222 1,100,963 5,110,185

 Unlisted 22,573 - 22,573 AA or similar

763,769 308,863 1,072,632 Not rated

Total 786,342 308,863 1,095,205

 Unlisted 5,732,931 12,682,245 18,415,176   

Total 5,732,931 12,682,245 18,415,176

Cash and cash Equivalent  676,904 150,584 827,488 Not rated

Total 676,904 150,584 827,488

Grand total 11,205,399 14,242,655 25,448,054
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These ratings have mainly been assigned by the respective asset managers and represents as follows:

A/A- or similar
Strong capacity to meet financial commitments, but somewhat susceptible to adverse economic conditions 
and changes in circumstances.

AA or similar
Very strong capacity to meet financial commitments.

AAA or similar
Extremely strong capacity to meet financial commitments.

BBB or similar
Highest Rating Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments, but more subject to adverse economic 
conditions.

B or similar
Vulnerable but currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments.

Outside of investment and trading activities, the Fund’s most significant credit risk exposure is with various 
departments of the Botswana Government, with respect to creation contributions for newly transferred 
members and contributions of monthly member and employer contributions. Given the sovereign nature 
of this debt, and based on the fact that the Government of Botswana has historically never defaulted 
on its obligations, the Fund believes that the credit risk attaching to this debt is insignificant. Further 
international credit rating agency Moody’s has rated the Botswana Government debt as “A2” which is 
interpreted as investment grade with a positive outlook.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 
out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Fund administrator 
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining sufficient cash resources in bank call accounts.

The Investment Committee monitors the Fund’s liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash flow. This 
is generally carried out at the fund administrator level within limits set by the Fund.

The table below analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances 
as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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At 31 March 2020 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months After 12 months Total

 P 000 P 000 P 000 P 000

Benefits payable 692,892 - 151,009 843,901

Accounts payable 15,687 40,295 13,300 69,282

Pensioners' fund account 148,355 445,065 6,742,801 7,336,221

Total 856,934 485,360 6,907,110 8,249,404

At 31 March 2019 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months After 12 months Total

 P 000 P 000 P 000 P 000

Benefits payable 584,878 - - 584,878

Accounts payable 71,416 - - 71,416

Pensioners' fund account 191,329 573,987 6,510,501 7,275,817

Total 847,623 573,987 6,510,501 7,932,111
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28. RE-PRESENTED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET 
      ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS - 2019

Performance from membership activities
Members' statutory contributions  753,200,900 753,200,900

Employer contributions 2,182,537,852 2,182,537,852

Members' voluntary contributions 4,743,632 4,743,632

Net Transfer-in /from other funds 2,487,747 2,487,747

Total income from members and employer 3 2,942,970,131 2,942,970,131

- -

Rental income  - 43,411,287

Profit on disposal of investments 4 - 26,495,341

Interest income 5 - 745,879,167

Dividend income 6 - 954,496,162

Other investment income 7 - 285,859,778

Total income from investments - 2,056,141,735

Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) 8 - 3,450,734,950

Net gain from investments - 5,506,876,685

Management expenses - (481,751,214)

Total surplus before benefits - 5,025,125,471

Monthly pensions (573,986,956) (573,986,956)

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 20 (54,606,460) (54,606,460)

Lump sums accrued on death 20 (294,725,830) (294,725,830)

Lump sums accrued on retirement 20 (504,164,272) (504,164,272)

Unrealised actuarial (gains)/losses (500,517,475) -

Total benefits to members (1,928,000,993) (1,427,483,518)

Movement in pension fund account - (500,517,475)

Operating Expenses 9 (135,900,103) -

Total operating expenses (135,900,103) (500,517,475)

Change in net assets before investment activities 879,069,035 6,040,094,609

  Presented 2019 Original 2019

Notes P P
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Performance from Investment activities  

Rental income  43,411,287 -

Profit on disposal of investments 4 26,495,341 -

Interest income 5 745,879,167 -

Dividend income 6 954,496,162 -

Other investment income 7 285,859,778 -

2,056,141,735 -

Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) 8 3,450,734,950 -

Total income/(loss) from investments 5,506,876,685 -

Investment Management fees 9 (275,852,723) -

Other Investment management expenses 9 (69,998,388) -

Total investment expense (345,851,111) -

Change in net assets from investment activities 5,161,025,574 -

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets during the year 6,040,094,609 6,040,094,609

Transfer for the year - -

Movement in pension fund account - 261,616,520

Net fund surplus for the year - 6,301,711,129

Member funds at the beginning of the year - 51,691,983,045

Member funds at year end - 57,993,694,174

29. RE-PRESENTATION OF THE DETERMINATION OF CASH FLOWS GENERATED/
(USED IN) OPERATIONS AND USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

In order to enhance user understanding, the Fund has represented its statement of cash flows. Amounts 
reported under adjustments have been categorised as either reclassification or non-cash items.

  Presented 2019 Original 2019

Notes P P
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Net increase/(decrease) in net assets during 
the year

 6,040,094,609 - 6,040,094,609

Surplus for the year before transfer to 
reserves

 - 6,040,094,609 (6,040,094,609)

Adjustments for:
Investment Management : Non cash adjustments

Unrealised fair value (gain)/loss 8 (3,450,734,950) (3,450,734,950) -

Realised foreign currency (gains)/losses 7 (278,118,438) - (278,118,438)

 (3,728,853,388) (3,450,734,950) (278,118,438)

Reclassification to investment activities

Investment Management fees 9 275,852,723 - 275,852,723

Other investment management expenses 9 69,998,388 - 69,998,388

Realised foreign currency (gains)/losses 7 (7,574,469) - (7,574,469)

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of investments 4 (26,495,341) (26,495,341) -

Realised gain on disposal - 26,495,341 (26,495,341)

Dividends income 6 (954,496,162) - (954,496,162)

Interest income 5 (745,879,167) - (745,879,167)

Rental income (43,411,287) - (43,411,287)

 (1,432,005,315) - (1,432,005,315)

Fund Operations : Non cash adjustments

Deferred lease Adjustment  (240,772) - (240,772)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of PPE  11,259 - 11,259

Other non cash items  2,870,441 - 2,870,441

Unrealised actuarial (gain)/loss  500,517,475 500,517,475 -

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11 1,285,532 1,285,532 -

Monthly pensions paid (Annuities paid) 573,986,956 573,986,956 -

Lump sums accrued on withdrawal 20 54,606,460 54,606,460 -

Lump sums accrued on death 20 294,725,830 294,725,830 -

Lump sums accrued on retirement 20 504,164,272 504,164,272 -

 1,931,927,453 1,929,286,525 2,640,928

Fund Operations : Changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 15 2,916,396 6,966,396 (4,050,000)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 21 21,182,146 21,543,266 (361,120)

 24,098,542 28,509,662 (4,411,120)

  Re-Presented
2019

Original 
2019

Differences
2019

Notes P P P

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...



BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | 114

Cashflows from investing activities:   

Purchase of property, plant & equipment 11 (14,546,291) (14,546,291) -

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant & 
equipment

 59,481 70,740 (11,259)

Proceeds on disposal of investments (net of 
management fees)

  7,266,957,066 - 7,266,957,066 

Purchase of investments  (10,512,755,715) - (10,512,755,715) 

Cash withrawal from investments  576,507,816 - 576,507,816

Net purchases - (2,633,608,733) 2,633,608,733

Rental income received 47,211,974 - 47,211,974

Dividend received 6 954,496,162 - 954,496,162

Interest received 5 745,879,167 - 745,879,167

Net cash used in investing activities (936,190,340) (2,648,084,284) 1,711,893,944

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 9,773,492 9,773,492 -

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16 138,864,504 138,864,504 -

16 148,637,996 148,637,996 -

  Re-Presented
2019

Original 
2019

Differences
2019

Notes P P P

Fund operations: Benefits paid
Monthly pensions paid (Annuities paid)  (573,986,956) (573,986,956) -

Lump sums paid on death 20 (37,402,726) (37,402,726) -

Lump sums paid on withdrawal 20 (230,340,292) (230,340,292) -

Lump sums paid on retirement 20 (1,047,568,096) (1,047,568,096) -

 (1,889,298,070) (1,889,298,070) -

Cash generated/(used) from operations 945,963,832 2,657,857,778 (1,711,893,946)
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30. GOING CONCERN  

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business.

The ability of the Fund to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most 
significant of these is that the directors continue to procure funding for the ongoing operations for the 
Fund.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Fund has become aware of potential obligations in relation to:

a) The Fund is involved in an appeal against an arbitration award of P2,651,000.00 plus 10% interest from 
the 27th March 2011. The Attorneys have indicated the likely costs to be paid are P4,000,000.00

b) The Fund has been sued by the following

• a member Ms Peggy T Mmopele claiming a sum of P2,076,036.98 against the Fund and Alexander 
Forbes for misleading information that led to her taking early retirement.

• a member Mr Mokolobeng Seakgosing claiming a sum of P423,894.52

• beneficiaries - Phiri & Others challenging the Fund’s decision to award death benefits to certain 
dependents.

• a former staff member Shadrack Bayane, for unfair dismissal in the tune of P86,026.06, judgement 
is yet to be delivered.

Notes to the Financial Statements  Continued...



BPOPF ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | 116

2019/20
Annual Report

B
o

tsw
an

a P
u

b
lic O

ffi
cers P

en
sio

n
 Fu

n
d

 A
n

n
u

al R
ep

o
rt 20

20

Your Future.
Securing

Highlights


